Kentico CMS 5.5 R2 Intranet Administrator's Guide



Table of Contents

Introduction	5
About this guide	5
Getting started	7
Installation	7
Accessing the administration interface	11
Configuration for WebDAV editing	
Departments	17
Departments overview	17
Adding new departments	
Customizing departments	
Departments security	
Managing department features	
Workgroups	42
Workgroups overview	
····Managing workgroups	
Managing document-based workgroup features	
Creating new workgroups	
Customizing workgroups	63
Project management	73
Project management overview	
Department projects	
Workgroup projects	
Ad-hoc projects	80
Document libraries	83
Document libraries overview	83
	05
Other features	85
RSS feeds	
Search	
Customizing the portal	96
Changing the themes	

	Contents	3
Modifying the Home page		103
Modifying structure of the website		110
Configuration for multiple languages		113
Changing the company logo		118
Special pages		125
Intranet widgets and web parts		131
Microsoft SharePoint integration		137



Introduction

1 Introduction

1.1 About this guide

Kentico CMS Intranet Administrator's Guide is a guide intended for administrators of **Kentico Intranet Solution**, i.e. the **Intranet Portal** sample website based on <u>Kentico CMS</u>. It provides information on how the solution can be managed from within the system's administration interface.

Pre-requisites

Before you start using this guide, it is recommended that you get familiar with the contents of <u>Kentico</u> <u>CMS Intranet User's Guide</u>. *Kentico CMS Intranet User's Guide* is a guide intended for end users of the solution and provides information on how it can be used by an ordinary company employee accessing only the front-end website, not the administration interface. By going through the guide, you will get an overview of the structure of the portal, its main features and functionality.

The next thing that is expected from you before referring to this guide is to go through <u>Kentico CMS</u> <u>Tutorial</u>. Kentico CMS Tutorial is intended for first-time users of Kentico CMS, describing the system's installation and the basics of its administration interface. The level of knowledge covered by the tutorial is necessary to understand most of the topics in this guide.

Where to go next

If you meet all the pre-requisites listed above, but you are new to *Kentico Intranet Solution*, we recommend proceeding to the **Getting started** chapter. The <u>Installation</u> topic in the chapter will guide you step-by-step through the installation of the *Intranet Portal* sample website. Once the website is installed and running, you may proceed to the <u>Accessing the administration interface</u> topic, where the solution is described from the administrator's point of view. Finally, you may refer to the <u>Configuration for WebDAV editing</u> topic, which describes additional configuration of the system necessary for *WebDAV editing* to be functional.

Further information sources

This guide is not the only source of information related to the solution or Kentico CMS in general. Complete documentation of Kentico CMS can be found at <u>http://devnet.kentico.com/documentation.aspx</u>. At this address, you can find various documentation guides, each of them describing the system from a different perspective or aimed at a different target audience.

The most important of the guides listed on the above mentioned page is <u>Kentico CMS Developer's Guide</u>. It is the most comprehensive guide for developers and administrators of the system, providing a full reference on its installation, configuration and functionality of all its features and built-in modules. You will find many links referring to the *Developer's Guide* throughout this guide, as most of the information necessary for administration of the solution is already contained in it.



Getting started

7

2 Getting started

2.1 Installation

To get started, you need to have **Kentico CMS** and the **Intranet Portal** sample website installed. This topic provides information on how this can be achieved. The topic is divided into two parts, depending on if you already have Kentico CMS installed or not.

New Kentico CMS installation

Installation of Kentico CMS is fully described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Installation and deployment</u>. The following points sum up which steps need to be taken in order to perform the installation and provide links to the relevant topics in that chapter of the Developer's Guide:

1. Launch *KenticoCMS_<version>.exe* and follow the instruction in <u>Installation procedure -> Setup</u> (KenticoCMS.exe).

2. Once the setup finishes, launch *Kentico CMS Web Installer* and follow the instructions in <u>Installation</u> procedure -> Web installer.

3. When the *Web Installer* is finished, access the URL of the new website. The first step of the **Database Setup** will be displayed. Follow the instructions in <u>Installation procedure -> Database setup</u>, until you reach the **Starter Site** step (the number of the step may vary). In this step, select the **Choose starter site** option and choose the **Intranet Portal** sample site. Click **Next** to continue.

SQL Settings	Step 5 - Sta	starter Site	Finish	
Choose starter site				
	portal site. The site company intranet, s departments or wor management. You company intranet by	se website template fo showcases many feat uch as sub-sections d kgroups and documer may use it as a base fo replacing the sample gine and may be used CMS.	ures useful for a ledicated to nt or project or your own data with your own.	
		ate is intended for deve ite from scratch. It use:		•
 Continue to the New si Import existing Kentico 				
2			Next>	

4. Wait until the Database Setup finishes importing the site. Once finished, the Finished step will be

displayed. Click the **Continue to the new website** link highlighted in the screenshot below.

		Step 7	7 - Fini	ished			
SQL Settings		Database		Starter Site	⇒	Finish	
	T	he site has be	en create	d successfully.			
		<u>Continue t</u>	o the nev	<u>v web site</u>			

5. You will be redirected to the Logon page of the portal.



Please Log On

Welcome to the Kentico Intranet Solution. In order to see the content, you need to log on. You can use the default user name administrator and leave the password blank.

S ON	Not a member yet? Sign up now!
ser name:	
ser name.	First name:
sword:	Last name:
Remember me	E-mail:
Log on	Password:
tten password	Confirm password:
	Register

Existing Kentico CMS installation

If you already have Kentico CMS installed, but without the Intranet Portal website, you can easily add it using the <u>New site wizard</u>.

1. Log on to Site Manager and on the Sites tab, click the Site New site wizard link.

Kentico CMS Site Manager						
• CMS Stee Monoger	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support
Sites						
New site wizard	or objects	Export objects				

2. In the first step of the wizard, choose the Use web site template option and click Next.

Step 1 Choose default web site If you choose to create a blank site, the wizard will guide you through the process of creating a new site. If you choose to use a template, you will be able to choose one of the predefined web site templates.	
 Create a new site using a wizard Use web site template 	
Next >	

3. In **Step 2**, choose the *Intranet Portal* website from the list of available website templates and click **Next**.

 / contain site structure, design, basic content, new document types and other settings.
Community Site This is a website template for a sample community site. Social networking features of Kentico CMS are used on the site to give you an idea of how they can be used on your web site. You can also modify this web site and use it as a base for the development of your own site. It uses the portal engine and is recommended for developers who are new to Kentico CMS.
Intranet Portal This is a ready-to-use website template for a sample intranet portal site. The site showcases many features useful for a company intranet, such as sub-sections dedicated to departments or workgroups and document or project management. You may use it as a base for your own company intranet by replacing the sample data with your own. It uses the portal engine and may be used by developers who are new to Kentico CMS.
Blank Site This website template is intended for developers who want to create a new web site from scratch. It uses the portal engine
Diant- Cit- ACDV

4. Go through the rest of the wizard as described in <u>Developer's Guide -> ... -> New site wizard -></u> <u>Website template</u>. It is recommended to leave the default settings unless you really need to change them according to your specific requirements. Once the wizard finishes, you should see the website present in the list of websites in **Site Manager -> Sites**.

Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support
Sites						
New site wizard	e or objects	Export objects				
Actions	Site name 🔺	_				
	Intranet Porta					
	Intranet Porta	<u> </u>				

5. Sign out of the administration interface (use the **Sign out** button at the top right corner of the UI). You will be redirected to the **Logon** page of the portal.



Please Log On

Welcome to the Kentico Intranet Solution. In order to see the content, you need to log on. You can use the default user name administrator and leave the password blank.

LOG ON	Not a member yet? Sign up now!
User name: Password: Remember me Log on	First name: Last name: E-mail: Password:
Forgotten password	Confirm password:
	Register

2.2 Accessing the administration interface

Once you have the **Intranet Portal** website installed and running (please refer to the <u>Installation</u> topic for information on how this can be achieved), you can start getting familiar with its administration interface.

In <u>Intranet User's Guide -> Getting started -> Intranet Portal overview</u>, you can find an overview of the portal's structure, main sections and features. The rest of the *Intranet User's Guide* focuses on how particular sections of the portal can be used by ordinary live site users without access to the administration interface, so please refer to the appropriate sections of the guide if you are looking for this type of information.

As this guide describes administration of the solution from within its administration interface, we will start by logging on to this interface. Open your web browser and type in the URL of your intranet website, followed by the **/cmsdesk** postfix (e.g. *//intra/cmsdesk*).

New Tab - Windows Internet Explorer

 Image: State of the state of t

Once you access the URL, you will be redirected to the administration interface's logon screen. The default administrator username is *administrator* with blank password. It is highly recommended that you change this password if you haven't done so yet. Enter your user name and password and click **Log on**.

Ken	tico	
	Please log on	
User name: Password:	administrator	
	Remember me	
? 🏵		Log on

You will be redirected to the **Content** tab of **CMS Desk** (as depicted in the screenshot below), which is the part of the administration interface where particular pages of the website can be edited. For a complete overview of Kentico CMS administration interface and the basics of content management in it, please refer to the whole <u>Content management</u> chapter of **Kentico CMS Developer's Guide**.



2.3 Configuration for WebDAV editing

WebDAV editing is a feature of the solution which enables direct editing of files stored on the portal, without the need to create a local copy and re-upload the modified file back to the server. This greatly simplifies the process of editing uploaded files and can be extremely useful, especially on intranet websites. For detailed information about WebDAV integration in Kentico CMS, please refer to

<u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> WebDAV integration</u>.

Client-side requirements

For WebDAV integration to be functional, the following client-side requirements must be met:

- WebDAV can be used only in Internet Explorer 6 or higher. No other web browsers are currently supported.
- Client applications with WebDAV support for particular file types need to be installed on the client machine. E.g. *Microsoft Office 2003* or higher or *Paint* and *Notepad* in *Windows 7* support editing of associated file types using WebDAV.
- Matching (x86) or (x64) versions of both Internet Explorer and Microsoft Office must be installed. In other words, to be able to open documents using WebDAV in Internet Explorer (x86), Microsoft Office (x86) must be installed on the client computer. For Internet Explorer (x64), you need to have Microsoft Office (x64) installed.

Server-side requirements

For WebDAV integration to be functional, the following server-side requirements must be met:

- Windows authentication must be enabled in IIS and the CMS must be configured to use this type of authentication.
- If you are using an older version of IIS than 7.0, the Kentico CMS website must be **installed in the root** of the server. This is necessary because *Microsoft Office* submits configuration requests to the site root and requires the server to respond properly. If the website is not installed to the root, *Microsoft Office* will open its associated documents as read-only.
- If you are using IIS 7.0 or higher, the website needn't be installed in the root it can also be installed in a virtual directory.

The following paragraph guides you step-by-step through the process of enabling *Windows Authentication*, which is the most important pre-requisite. The <u>Configuration for WebDAV</u> topic in **Developer's Guide -> Modules -> WebDAV integration** explains the rest of the required configuration procedure.

Enabling Windows Authentication

1. Before you configure your project for *Windows authentication*, you need to create a user account that will be the same as your current domain name and assign administrator permissions to this user account. This will allow you to access all features as an administrator once you sign in using *Windows authentication*.

2. Sign in as an administrator to **Site Manager** and go to **Administration -> Users**. Create a new user with the following values:

- User name: your domain user name in format domain-username, example: office-johns
- Full name: your full name

Click OK.

3. On the General tab, set the following values:

- Is global administrator: yes
- Is external user: yes
- Is domain user: yes

Click OK.

4. Now you can switch the application to *Windows authentication* mode. Edit the *web.config* file of the web project and change the following line:

<authentication mode="Forms">

to:

<authentication mode="Windows">

5. Now you have *Windows authentication* enabled for the administration interface. To enable it for the live site as well, the following piece of code also needs to be present in your *web.config.* By default, the code is already there, but commented. So the only thing you need to do is locate it (just search for the first line) and uncomment it.

```
<location path="">
<system.web>
<authorization>
<deny users="?"/>
</authorization>
</system.web>
</location>
```

Verifying the configuration

Once you have all the necessary configuration performed, you can verify that WebDAV editing is enabled. The easiest way is to verify it in any <u>Document library</u> on the portal. The screenshot below shows the **P** Edit action, which is only present in the drop-down menu if WebDAV editing is enabled and if WebDAV editing of the particular file type is supported. In the screenshot, you can see how a *DOCX* document is opened for direct editing in *Microsoft Word*. Saving the changes in *Microsoft Word* (just by clicking the **Save** button or pressing **Ctrl+S**) replaces the original version of the file with the new one automatically.

Document name 🔺	Understanding-Our-Values - Microsoft Word
▼ A Complete Guide for Ne	Home Insert Page Layout References Mailings Review View
Understanding Our Value Edit Update	Calibri (Body) * 11 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 * 注 *
📄 Сору	G.
Delete	
Dpen Open	
Properties	
Rermissions	Sample empty document.
Q Version history	oumpie empty documenta
beck in	
a Undo checkout	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	* 0
	T
	Page: 1 of 1 Words: 3 🕉 English (United States)
l	Page: 1 of 1 Words: 3 🕉 English (United States)



Departments

3 Departments

3.1 Departments overview

The **Departments** section of the portal provides a separate website section for each company department. This section contains its own Home page, Project management, News, Document library, Forums, Blogs, etc. When viewing a department's section, the main menu serves for navigation within the department, not within the global section of the portal. It is recognizable by the **Back to main portal** button at the left edge of the menu, as well as by the breadcrumbs below it beginning with *Portal* > *Departments* > *Department name*. You can navigate back to the global section of the portal using these two controls.



A comprehensive overview of the section's functionality and features can be found in <u>Intranet User's</u> <u>Guide -> Departments</u>, so please refer to it if you are looking for further information on how the section can be used on the live site.

Departments structure in the content tree

Let's take a look at how the section is created within the system's administration interface. Log on to **CMS Desk** and navigate to the **Content** tab. If you expand the **Departments** node of the content tree, you should see the sub-nodes as in the screenshot below. As you can see, there is a number of pre-

defined departments recognizable by the icon.

Below the pre-defined department, there is the **Template** document, which is a template used when adding new departments. If you expand the **Template** node, you should see its sub-pages as in the screenshot below. If you expand any of the pre-defined departments, you can see that they contain the same sub-pages as the **Template** document. These sub-pages represent particular sub-sections of each department's section. When a new department is created, the sub-pages from under the **Template** document are copied under the new department's parent document, as demonstrated in step 6 of the Adding new departments topic.

Location of the departments template may be customized. However, a correct location of the template must always be set in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Intranet Portal -> Department template path** in order for the creation of new departments to be possible.



Intranet department document type

Particular departments consist of the sub-pages mentioned above and their parent document. The parent document is of the **Intranet department** (*IntranetPortal.Department*) document type. By default, each newly created document of this type uses the **Intranet Portal - Department master page** <u>page</u> template. This is ensured by the configuration of the **Template** document, which also has this page template set.

As obvious from the name of the page template, this document works as a <u>master page</u> for the department's section. The master page provides the common graphic elements in the header of each department's section and the dedicated navigation in the main menu (area 1 in the screenshot below). Particular sub-pages are displayed by the **Page placeholder** web part in the **zoneContent** web part zone on the master page (area 2 in the screenshot below).

Page Design Form Master page Properties
Save Spell check
図 Source 函, 从 軸 臨 冊 廠 叠 ∽ ♀ 桷 馀 圓 2/ B I U 444 × × 註 曰 [译 译 王 吾 君 〓 儱 鳥 ↓ 圖 圖 □ 는 ② � / 금 頁 ② ◆ 盤
Style Format Format Size Size Bar and Size Size Size Size Size Size Size Size
1. Gjobal Administrator : Sign Out My Dashboard How To Edit this page
You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> <u>0 active task(s)</u>
L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Wiki Projects Members
Portal > Departments > IT
2.

Settings on the Form tab

Essential settings of the department can be performed on the parent document's **Form** tab. The following fields can be configured:

- **Department name** name of the department used in the administration interface and on the live site.
- **Department description** text describing the department. It is used as the department's description in the departments listing.
- **Department avatar** image used in departments listing and in the header of the department's website section. You can click the **Upload file** link and select an image from your local disk. You may also leave the field blank, which assigns the default avatar to the department.
- Used stylesheet theme used for the department's section. You may use one of the three predefined stylesheets, or even edit the selected one directly using the Edit button.
- Used department sections using these check-boxes, you can choose which sub-sections will be included in the department's website section.
- Department roles roles of department members. Members of the roles selected in this field will have access to the department's website section (see the <u>Departments security</u> topic for more details).
- **Publish from** date and time from when the department will be published on the live site. If you leave the field blank, it will be published immediately after its creation.
- **Publish to** date and time until when the department will be published on the live site. If you leave the field blank, it will be published until it is deleted.

For sample values that can be entered in the fields, please see the pre-defined sample departments or refer to the <u>Adding new departments</u> topic.

Kentico	Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager	Site:
Charles Charles	desk Tools Administration	
New Delete Move Up Content management	Edit Preview Live site List Search	
Intranet Portal		
Home	Page Design Form Master page Properties	
🚊 📄 Company	Save Spell check	
😑 📄 Departments 😥 🐉 Finance 🏓		
	Department name: IT	
→ MIT→ Home	This department contains sample 🔺 data.	
 News Calendar 	Department description:	
Documents		
Media		7
😥 📄 Blogs	Department avatar: Actions Update Name Size	
	🖉 🗱 膨 🔝 IT.jpg 14.9 kB	
🕀 📄 Wiki	Used stylesheet; Intranet Portal - Red Edit	
RSS	Home News Calendar Documents	5
Search	 Used department sections: Media Blogs Forums Wiki 	
🕕 🎜 Management 🅈	Projects V Members V RSS V Search	
🕕 🚜 Marketing 🕈	Role name	
	CIO	
👝 🚜 Sales 🏓 🕀 📄 Template 🏓	Department roles:	-
🕕 📄 Template 🕈		
Documents	Remove selected Add role	
• News	Publish from:	
Events	Publish to:	

3.2 Adding new departments

The following topic provides a step-by-step example of how a new department can be added to the portal.

1. The first step in creation of a department is creation of roles that the members of the department will belong to. This is necessary in order to control access to the department's section, as described in the <u>Departments security</u> topic. Go to **CMS Desk -> Administration -> Roles** and click the **Period New role** link above the list.

🞎 Kentico					Go to Live Site	Switch to Site Manager
CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration		
- Administration		🥦 Role	s			
Event log		🥵 <u>New rol</u>	<u>e</u>			
Roles	ks	Role nam	e: LIKE			

2. In the New role dialog, enter the following details:

- **Role display name**: Support Engineer, name of the role displayed in the system's administration interface and on the live site.
- Role code name: SupportEngineer, name of the role used in website code.
- **Role description**: enter some text describing the role.
- Is domain role: *disabled*; indicates if the role is a domain role from Active Directory.

Click **OK**. Repeat the procedure and create another role using the following details:

- Role display name: Customer Care Manager
- Role code name: CustomerCareManager
- Role description: enter some text describing the role.
- Is domain role: disabled

Click OK.

					Go to Live Site	Switch to Site Manager
CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration		
 Administration Banned IPs Event log Permissions Roles Scheduled tasks UI personalization Users 		Mew New	role			
		Roles + N	lew role			
		Role disp Role code Role desc	name:	Customer Care Manage CustomerCareManager Head of the Custo department.		
		ls domain	role:	ОК		4

3. With the roles defined, you may proceed with creating the actual department section in the content tree. Go to **CMS Desk -> Content** and select the **Departments** node in the content tree. Click the **New** button above the tree.

Kentico	Go to Live Site Switch to Site	Manager
CMS Desk Content My des	k Tools Administration	
New Delete Move Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search View mode Other	
🖃 🕘 Intranet Portal	Page Design Form Properties	
Home Company Departments Workgroups	Intranet Solution	
4. In the New document dialog w	hich gets displayed, select the Intranet de	partmo

Kentico	Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager							
CMS Desk Content My des	sk Tools Administration							
Copy 🕆 Up								
New Delete 🚔 Move 🦊 Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search							
Content management	View mode Other							
🖃 🌍 Intranet Portal	► Departments							
Home	New document							
 Departments Workgroups 	Please select new document type:							
Documents	Page (menu item)							
Events	灯 <u>Blog</u>							
	陽 Event (booking system)							
Forums	File							
Employees	Solder States St							
🔲 📄 Search 🗊 📄 RSS	Martin Intranet department							
Logon	I News							
🗉 🔄 Files	Simple article							
🕣 🔄 Special pages								

5. On the department creation form, you need to specify the following details. For detailed descriptions of particular fields, please refer to the <u>Departments overview</u> topic.

- Department name: Customer Care
- **Department description**: enter some text describing the department.
- **Department avatar**: for the purpose of this example, you may leave the field blank, which assigns the default avatar to the department. Otherwise, you may click the **Upload file** link and select an image from your local disk.
- Used stylesheet: Intranet Portal Blue
- Used department sections enable all available check-boxes
- Department roles: add the Customer Care Manager and Support Engineers roles created in step 2.
- Publish from: leave the field blank.
- Publish to: leave the field blank.

Finally, click **G** Save to create the department with the entered details.

Kentico CMS Desk Content My des	<u>Go to Live Site</u> <u>Switch to Site Manager</u> Site: k Tools Administration
Image: Second secon	Edit Preview Live site List Search
Content management	View mode Other
⊡· 🚱 Intranet Portal	Departments
🔁 📄 Company	Sove Spell check
Departments Orkgroups Ocuments Ocuments Ocuments	Department name: Customer Care This department provides our
Events Media Blogs Forums	Department description:
🗊 📄 Employees	Department avatar:
🗼 📄 RSS	Used stylesheet: Intranet Portal - Blue Edit
💮 📄 Logon 📺 😋 Files 🖶 😋 Special pages	✓ Home ✓ News ✓ Calendar ✓ Documents Used department sections: ✓ Media ✓ Blogs ✓ Forums ✓ Wiki ✓ Projects ✓ Members ✓ RSS ✓ Search
	Role name Department roles: Customer Care Manager Support Engineer Remove selected Add role
	Publish from:
	Publish to:

6. Now, the department should be created. You should see it in the content tree, under the **Departments** node. If you expand the **Customer Care** node, you should see that all pages from under the **Template** document were copied under it, as depicted in the screenshot below.



7. The last thing you need to do is configure permissions for access to the new department. With the **Customer Care** document selected, switch to the **Properties -> Security** tab. By default, both the **Customer Care Manager** and the **Support Engineer** roles have only the **Read** permission assigned. This only enables them to view the content of the department.

As we want the **Customer Care Manager** role members to manage the content in all possible ways,

let's give them the **Full control** permission. Enable the **Full control** check-box in the **Allow** column, all check-boxes below it will be enabled too. Finally, click **OK** to save the configuration.



8. Let's see what we have created. If you go to the live site and browse to the title page of the **Departments** section, you should see the department present in the **All departments** list.

Home Company	Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media Blog	s Forums	Employees	
Departments									
Departme	nts								
MY DEPARTMENTS									
You aren't currently me	mber of any departr	ment.							
ALL DEPARTMENTS									
	C <u>are</u> nent provides our with help in		inance inance departm	ent	17Y	HR Human reso	urces department		II This department contains sample data.
Manageme This depart directly to C	ment belongs	A 1/4	Aarketing Aarketing and PF	र department.		Production Production		1	<u>Sales</u> Sales department

9. Click the department's name or avatar. You will be redirected to the **Home** page of the department's dedicated website section. As you can see in the following screenshot, the page already contains all web parts that are present on other departments' **Home** pages, but they have no content yet.

In a real-world scenario, the next logical step would be to assign ordinary members of the department to the **Support Engineer** role and the department's management to the **Customer Care Manager** role. The rest of the department's section is pre-configured and ready to be used. Once the department starts being used by its members, web parts on this page will get populated with content from the respective sub-section of the department automatically.



Automatically created objects

When a new department is created, a number of objects is automatically created within the system's administration interface. These objects are necessary to provide object-based functionality of the department's section. The following text describes which objects are created and what display name and code name they are created with. In the code names, the globally unique identifier (GUID) of the particular department's parent document is always used. This identifier can be found in the **Node GUID** field on the **Properties -> General** tab of the parent document's editing interface.

🗆 🚭 Intranet Portal	Page Design Fo	rm Master page Pro	perties
Home	General	Design	
Company Departments	URLs	CSS stylesheet:	Intranet Portal - Blue Edit
Bepartments Bepartments	Template		Inherit
🗉 🖓 Finance 🏓	Metadata		
	Categories	Other properties Document name:	Customer Care
	Menu	Type:	Intranet department
🕕 🔐 Management 🏓	Workflow	Created by:	Global Administrator
🖶 🚜 Marketing 🏓	Versions	Created:	12/16/2010 7:24:17 PM
🗊 🔊 Sales 🆻	Related docs	Last modified by: Last modified:	Global Administrator 12/21/2010 6:02:29 PM
🛨 📄 Template 🏓	Linked docs	Last modified.	
🕕 📄 Workgroups	Security	Rating:	会会会会会会会会会会 Reset
Documents	Attachments	Node ID:	417
🗈 📄 News		Node GUID:	c0145e77-ea42-4e60-bc95-4f3110f9c8bd
⊕ i Events Media		Alias path:	/Departments/Customer-Care
Blogs		Culture:	English - United States
Forums		Name path: Live URL:	/Departments/Customer Care /KenticoCMS_r2/Departments/Customer-Care.aspx
🗉 📄 Employees		Published:	Yes
Search			

Media library

If you choose that the new department should contain the Media sub-section (in step 5 of the example

above), a media library is created for the department in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Media libraries**. The media library is created with the following names:

- Display name: < display name of the department> media libary
- Code name: Department_<guid of the department's parent document>

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools Administration	<u>Go to Live Site</u>	Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Portal 💌
 ■ Tools ■ Abuse report ■ BizForms 		Media	libraries		
	-	Actions	Name 🔺	Folder	Description
Custom tables		2 🗙	Customer Care media library	Customer-Care	Media library for Customer Care department.
E-commerce		2 🗙	Finance media library	Finance	Media library for the Finance department.
🔚 File import 		N 🗙	HR media library	HR	Media library for the HR department.
🏭 Groups		N 🗙	IT media library	IT	Media library for the IT department.
Media libraries		N 🗙	Management media library	Management	Media library for the Management department.
📲 Message boards 💮 🎧 Mewsletters		1	Media	Media	Global media library accessible to all employees.

Forum group

If you choose that the new department should contain the **Forums** section (in step 5 of the example above), a forum group is created for the department in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Forums**. The forum group contains a single forum, which is also created automatically. The forum group is created with the following names:

- **Display name**: < *display name of the department*> forum group
- Code name: Department_<guid of the department's parent document>

The forum in the forum group is created with the following names:

- **Display name**: < display name of the department> forum
- Code name: Default_department_<guid of the department's parent document>

Please note that if you wanted to add another forum into the forum group, it would be necessary for its code name to end with the _department_<guid of the department's parent document> suffix. Otherwise, content of the forum would not be indexed by the department's forum smart search index (see below for more details).

Kentico CMS Desk Conte	ent My desk Tools Administration	<u>Go to Live Site</u>	Switch to Site Manager	Site: Intranet Portal 💌
Tools Abuse report	Salar Forum groups			
BizForms	A New forum group			
Booking system Content staging Custom tables	Actions Group name			
	🖉 💢 👚 🦊 🛛 Customer Care forum	group		
E-commerce	🥟 🗱 🕆 🦆 My dept forum group			
Sector Se	🧪 🗱 🕆 🦆 🐺 Finance forum group			
🍇 Groups	🧷 🗱 🕆 🦊 Production forum grou	p		

Search indexes

Each newly created department gets a search index for its content created in **Site Manager** -> **Administration** -> **Smart Search**. In addition, if you choose that the new department should contain the **Forums** section (in step 5 of the example above), another search index gets created for the department's forums. The index for general content of the department is created with the following names:

- Display name: < display name of the department> Default
- Code name: default_department_<guid of the department's parent document>

The index for department forums is created with the following names:

- **Display name**: < display name of the department> Forums
- Code name: forums_department_<guid of the department's parent document>

💒 Kentico							Switch to Cl	MS Desk
CMS Site Manager	Sites Administrati	on Settings	Development	Licenses 9	Support			
Administration Avatars Bad words Badges Banned IPs F-mail queue E-mail queue Event log	Display name: Lik	ch indexes						
	Actions D	splay name 🔺		Last rebuild ti	me	Index type	Index status	
Roles	🖉 💥 🛞 🛛 c	ustomer Care - Def	ault	12/16/2010 7:2	24:35 PM	Documents	Ready	
C Scheduled tasks	/ 💥 📵 c	ustomer Care - For	ums			Forums	Ready	
System	🧪 💥 🔞 🛛 Fi	nance - Default		12/15/2010 5:3	85:20 PM	Documents	Ready	

Tag group

In **Site Manager -> Development -> Tag groups**, a tag group is created automatically for each newly created department. This tag group is intended for tagging of blog posts in the department's **Blogs** subsection, but it is created even if you choose not to include the **Blogs** sub-section in the department (in step 5 of the example above). The tag group is created with the following names:

- Display name: < display name of the department>
- Code name: <guid of the department's parent document>



3.3 Customizing departments

It is possible to customize of each department's website section, i.e. modify particular pages on the **Design** tab, add additional sub-sections or remove the existing ones. This can be done at three levels:

- Page templates customization useful to customize pages on the **Design** tab.
- <u>Individual department customization</u> useful if you want to add or remove sub-sections of a single, already existing department.
- <u>Customization of the department template</u> useful if you want all newly created departments to reflect certain customization.

In a real-world scenario where you already have some departments created, it is expected that you will have to combine these approaches to achieve the expected result. The following examples will guide you through the process of performing these types of customization. These examples are intentionally simple, but the principles shown in them are applicable for all customizations you would possibly want to perform.



Reordering and renaming default department sub-pages

Configuration of most of the web parts and widgets used within the department sections, as well as other configuration, is dependent on alias paths of particular department sub-pages. Therefore, it is not recommended to change the default alias paths.

In case that you needed to perform this, please refer to the <u>Customizing the portal -></u> <u>Modifying structure of the website</u> topic for more details on how this can be achieved.

Page templates customization

Documents of particular department sub-sections share common page templates. For example, the

Home pages of all pre-defined departments, as well as the one under the **Template** node, share the **Intranet Portal - Department home page** page template. This fact implies that if you customize one **Home** page on the **Design** tab (e.g. if you add a web part), the customization will be reflected on all **Home** pages that share the page template.

To prevent this behavior, i.e. to customize only one single document using the template without affecting

the other ones, you can use the **Clone as ad-hoc** action on the **Properties -> Template** tab of the document's editing interface.

The following example demonstrates both of these approaches:

1. At first, we will try modifying one page so that all pages that share the same page template will reflect this customization as well. Log on to **CMS Desk** and in the content tree, choose the **Departments/IT/ Home** document and switch to the **Design** tab of its editing interface.

2. We will customize the page by adding one extra web part to the **zoneCenterTop** web part zone. Click the **Add web part** (+) icon in the top right corner of the web part zone.



3. In the **Select web part dialog** which pops-up, choose the **General -> Powered by Kentico** web part. In its web part properties, only add *
br/>
into* the **Content after** property, which will ensure some free space between the web part and the ones under it. Leave all other properties at their defaults and click **OK**. The web part will be added to the page template, as can be seen in the following screenshot.

/Departments/IT/Home - page ten	nplate: Intranet Portal - Department home page	
▼ zoneTop		÷
▼ WidgetActions		
🔻 🗓 zoneLeft 🛛 🕂	▼ zoneCenterTop 🕂	▼ SoneRight
🔻 划 Department_QuickLinks 🎡	ContentText	💌 🛐 IntranetPortal_Poll 🎯
👸 Portal home	PoweredByKentico	How do you like our new portal?
<u>&</u> Members	<u></u>	Very satisfied
📁 Documents	💌 🗓 zoneCenter 🛛 🕂	
	▼ 関 Department_LatestNews 🎡 📐	C Satisfied

4. Now if you view the **Home** page of any other department, e.g. **Finance**, you will see that the web part is present there as well. The same applies to the **Home** page under the **Template** node.

Finance		1 <u>Global Administrat</u>	DT: <u>Sign Out</u> <u>My Dashboard</u> <u>How To</u> <u>Edit this page</u> You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> <u>0 active task(s)</u>
L Home News Calend	ar Documents Media B	logs Forums Wiki	Projects Members
<u>Portal</u> > <u>Departments</u> > <u>Finance</u> > Home			م ا
C QUICK LINKS	LATEST NEWS There are currently no news. View all news	2	POLL How do you like our new portal? Very satisfied Satisfied

5. Let's try the other approach. Now that all **Home** pages contain the added web part, we can try removing it from just one of these pages, while keeping it in the rest of them. With the **Finance**

department's **Home** page selected, switch to its **Properties -> Template** tab and click the **Clone as ad-hoc** action.

🖃 🍑 Intranet Portal	Page Design F	orm Properties
Home	General	
Company Departments	URLs	Save
ja Separanenes ja Statistica Separanenes	Template	
Home	Metadata	Template
··· 📄 News	Categories	Intranet Portal - Department home page Select
🔁 📄 Calendar	Menu	
Documents	Workflow	Save as new template
📄 Media	Versions	Inherit template
it is a second	Related docs	
······································	Linked docs	Clone template as ad-hoc
Projects	Security	Edit template properties
	Attachments	

6. The page template will be cloned as an ad-hoc one, which will be recognizable by its name changing to **Ad-hoc: Home**. Now you can modify the page without affecting the other **Home** pages. For example, if you remove the **Powered by Kentico** web part added in step 3, it will only be removed from this **Home** page, not from all the other ones.

Individual department customization

In case that you want to customize the dedicated website section of a single department, you only need to perform the required customization on documents under the department's parent document in the content tree. This customization will then be reflected only in this particular department's website section.

In the following example, you will learn how to add a sample FAQ page to the IT department's section:

1. Log on to **CMS Desk** and on the **Content** tab, select the **Departments/IT** document in the content tree. Click the **New** button above the tree. When the New document dialog appears, select the **Page** (menu item) document type.



2. In the following dialog, enter *FAQ* into the **Page name** field and choose to **Create a blank page** using the **Simple** layout (in a real-world scenario, you may use any other page template according to your specific needs). Finally, click **Save** to save the changes.

Save 📑 Save and	I create another 🐺 Spell	check			
Page name: FAQ					
💿 Use page template	🔗 Inherit from parent page	Oreate a blank page			
Layout name:			Search		
					Î
Full page (CSS)	Grid 2x2 cells	Grid 2x2 cells (CSS)	Grid 3x2 cells	Grid 3x2 cells (CSS)	E
Simple	Three columns	Three columns - 20/60/20 (CSS)	Three columns - 25/50/25 (CSS)	Three columns - 33/33/33 (CSS)	
					T

3. The new page is added as the first page under the department's main document (before the **Home** page). The position of the page in the content tree determines the position of the page in department navigation. As you will probably want the page to be located a bit more to the right in the navigation, drag and drop the page to the desired position in the content tree.



4. Once the page is created, switch to the **Design** tab of its editing interface and add the required web parts. For the purposes of this example, we will only add a single **Editable text** web part with all its properties left at the defaults.

Page Design Form Properties	☑ Display web part co
IT department	Global Administrator : Sign Out My Dashboard How To Edit this page
Home News Calendar Document	You have: <u>O unread message(s)</u> O active task(s) s Media Blogs Forums Wiki Projects Members FAQ
Portal > Departments > II > FAQ	
 /Departments/IT/FAQ - page template: ad-hoc zoneLeft 	 ◆
💌 editabletext 🍩	

5. Now go to the **Page** tab of the page's editing interface and add the actual content of the page. For the purposes of this example, you can just add some sample text as in the screenshot below. Click **Save** to save the changes.

ge Design Form Properties	
Save Spell check	
E Source 🐧 炎 🗈 🏦 🏤 👘 🖨 🗠 斗 第 👼 🎞 岩 😌 🎯 🎲 🔚 王 🗔 🕑 🎓 👑	₩ \$\$ 圖 2 B I U #* ×, × 註 註 使 使 ■ 書 書 ■ ● ● ●
Style Format Format	V Size large V Tav Cav C
IT department	Global Administrator : Sign Out My Dashboard How To Edit this page
	You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> 0 active task(s)
L Home News Calendar Docume	ents Media Blogs Forums Wiki Projects Members FAQ
Portal > Departments > IT > FAQ	٩
, <u></u>	

6. Once you are finished, go to the live site to see what you have created. Browse to the **IT** department's website section. You should see the **FAQ** menu item present in the main navigation, at the position where you dragged it in step 3. If you click the document, you should see the page with the content defined in the previous step.



Frequently Asked Questions
Some sample text comes here ...

Customization of the department template

As explained in the <u>Departments overview</u> and <u>Adding new departments</u> topics, the **Departments**/ **Template** node contains sub-pages with pre-configured web parts. These pages are copied under each newly created department's parent document. By performing customization of the documents under the **Template** document, you ensure that **each newly created department will reflect this customization too**. However, this will not be the case for already existing departments. To ensure uniformity in this case, you will need to copy the new page under the existing departments manually.

In the following example, you will learn how to add the FAQ page to to the department template:

1. Log on to **CMS Desk** and on the **Content** tab, select the **Departments/Template** document in the content tree. Go through steps 1. to 5. in the <u>example above</u> to create the **FAQ** page under the **Template** document.

Intranet Portal Home Company Opartments	Page Design Form Properties Save Solid Check Source 0, 3, 10,	
🝙 🚜 Finance 🏓		
. 5ª HR [⇒]		
	Style Format Fort Size I Tar Ar Data	
🝙 🚜 Management 🕈		
🗉 🎜 Marketing 🕈	department	
📄 🚜 Production 🏓		Edit this page
🔒 🚜 Sales 🏓		
🖃 📄 Template 🏓	You have: <u>0 unread message(s</u>	0 active task(s)
	Portal > Departments > Templata > FAQ	
News		
🔁 📄 Calendar		
Documents	For more than A should Deve theme	
Media	Frequently Asked Questions	
i Blogs ■	Some sample text comes here	
Forums		
···· Wiki		=
Members		
FAQ		
RSS		
Search		
Workgroups		

2. At this point, the page is created with an ad-hoc page template. To ensure uniformity with all other department sub-pages, i.e. that modification of a single **FAQ** page will be reflected in all other **FAQ** pages (see <u>Page templates customization</u> above for more details), we need to save the ad-hoc template as a new regular page template. To do this, go to the **Properties -> Template** tab of the **FAQ** page's

editing interface and click the Save as new page template action.

Page Design	Form Properties
General	D .
URLs	Save
Template	
Metadata	Template
Categories	Ad-hoc: FAQ Select
Menu	
Workflow	Save as new template
Versions	Inherit template
Related docs	E dittamplata proportion
Linked docs	Edit template properties
Security	

3. In the Save as new page template dialog which pops-up, enter the following details:

- Template display name: Intranet Portal Department FAQ
- **Template code name**: IntranetPortal.DepartmentFAQ
- Template category: Intranet Portal
- **Template description**: enter some text describing the page template.

Click OK.

Save as new page template Webpage Dialog			
🙀 Save as new page template			
Template display name: Template code name:	Intranet Portal - Department FAQ IntranetPortal.DepartmentFAQ		
Template category:	Intranet Portal	•	
Template description:	This is a template of a page where department FAQ will be published.	- ×	
	ок с	ancel	
http://locall 육 Local intrar	net Protected Mode: Off		

4. Now try creating a new department, just as described in the <u>Adding new departments</u> topic.

5. Once the new department is created, you can see that it contains the **FAQ** page as well. The same would apply to any other newly created department.



3.4 Departments security

Access to department sections is limited based on document permissions configured on the <u>three-level</u> <u>permissions hierarchy</u>. However, the permissions configurable on the two higher levels, i.e. permissions for all content and permissions for particular document types, are typically only used in special cases. Therefore, you will typically configure department permissions on <u>document-level</u>.

As explained in the <u>Departments overview</u> topic, you can choose department member roles in the **Department roles** field on the **Form** tab of the department's parent document. By adding a role to this field, the role is added to the **Users and Roles** list on the **Properties -> Security** tab of the parent document and the **Read** document-level permission is granted to it. All documents stored under the parent document inherit document-level permissions from their parent by default, which results in the fact that members of the roles can view all documents in the department's section. On top of it, these permissions ensure that the department is displayed to them in the **My departments** list on the **Departments** section's title page.

Apart from the basic **Read** permission, it is possible to set up additional permissions to enable management of document-based features of the section:

- News
- Calendar
- Documents
- Wiki

A typical example of this configuration can be seen in the configuration of each pre-defined department shipped with the portal. Let's take the **IT** department for demonstration:

The **IT** role is intended for ordinary employees without document management permissions. Therefore, only the **Read** permission is granted to the role on document-level. Contrary to that, the **CIO** role is intended for the head of the department who should be able to manage all content within the department's section. Therefore, full permissions are granted to the role (as can be seen in the screenshot below) to provide full permissions for all possible content management actions.
Departments	37
-------------	----



3.5 Managing department features

The most of the functionality provided by the **Departments** section is based on standard Kentico CMS modules and features. The following topic provides brief descriptions of the particular sub-sections and the modules and features that they are based on. With each module or feature, you can find a link leading to its full documentation in **Kentico CMS Developer's Guide**.

ė	😹 IT 🕯	
		Home
	÷. 📄	News
	: •	Calendar
	: •	Documents
		Media
	÷ 📄	Blogs
		Forums
	÷ 📄	Wiki
		Projects
		Members
	÷	RSS
	· 📄	Search

News

The **News** section is based on standard Kentico CMS documents. Each published news item is a document of the **News** (*CMS.News*) document type stored under the **News** document in the department's section. For more information on document types, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -></u> <u>Development -></u> <u>Document types and transformations</u>.

To enable adding of news on the live site, the **User contributions (Wiki)** module is leveraged. Detailed information about the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> User contributions (Wiki)</u>.

Calendar

The calendar used for events scheduling and attendees registration is based on the **Booking system** module. To find more information about the module, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Booking system</u>.

Documents

Documents storage on the live site is provided by the **Document library** module. More information about the use of this module on the portal can be found in the <u>Document libraries</u> chapter of this guide. Complete documentation of the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Document library</u>.

Media

The **Media** section is based on the **Media libraries** module. Each department has its own media library created in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Media libraries**. The library is recognizable by the name in the <*Department name> media library* format. Detailed documentation of the module can be found in Developer's Guide -> Media libraries.

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools Administration	<u>Go to Live Site</u>	Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Portal 💌
Tools Abuse report		🧊 Media	libraries		
BizForms		in New media	a library		
		Actions	Name 🔺	Folder	Description
- 🆓 Content staging	aging	Actions	Name 🔺	Folder	Description
Custom tables		N 💥	Customer Care media library	Customer-Care	Media library for Customer Care department.
E-commerce		1	Finance media library	Finance	Media library for the Finance department.
iii File import		N 🗙	HR media library	HR	Media library for the HR department.
🍇 Groups		N 🗙	IT media library	IT	Media library for the IT department.
Media libraries		N 🗙	Management media library	Management	Media library for the Management department.
📲 Message boards Mewsletters		1	Media	Media	Global media library accessible to all employees.
Polls		N 💥	PR & Marketing media library	PRMarketing	Media library for the PR & Marketing department.

Blogs

Functionality of the **Blogs** section is provided by the **Blogs** module. Blogs are standard documents in Kentico CMS content tree, but the module also has its dedicated user interface in **CMS Desk -> Blogs**. Detailed documentation of the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Blogs</u>.

Forums

The discussion forums are based on the **Forums** module. Each department has its own forum group created in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Forums**. The forum group is recognizable by the name in the *<Department name> forum group* format. Detailed documentation of the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Forums</u>.

Wiki

Similarly as the **News** section, the **Wiki** section is also based on standard Kentico CMS documents. Each published wiki article is of the **Simple article** (*CMS.SimpleArticle*) document type, stored under the **Wiki** document within the department's section in the content tree.

To enable adding of articles on the live site, the **User contributions (Wiki)** module is leveraged. Detailed information about the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> User contributions (Wiki)</u>.

Projects

Functionality of the **Projects** section is provided by the **Project management** module. The module's user interface is located in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Project management**. Its functionality and management is briefly described in the <u>Project management</u> chapter of this guide. Full documentation of the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Project management</u>.

🎎 Kentico				G	o to Live Site	Switch to Site Manager	Site: Intranet Portal 💌
CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration			
Tools Abuse report BizForms Blogs		🥦 Foru	ım gro	ups			
		Se New for	um group				
Booking system		Actions		Group name			
Custom tables		2 🗙	1 🌷	Customer Care forum group			
🖓 E-commerce		N 💥	1 🌷	My dept forum group			
- Serums		1	1 🌷	Finance forum group			
🍇 Groups		1	1 🌷	Production forum group			

Members

The **Members** page only contains a combination of the following three interconnected web parts: **Basic repeater + Department members data source + Filter**. These web parts are configured so that the **Basic repeater** displays users provided by the **Department members** data source. The data source is configured so that it displays only members of the current department (i.e. members of the roles added in the **Department roles** field on the **Form** tab of the department's parent document's editing interface). The filter enables further filtering of displayed users based on their names.

Detailed information about data source web parts can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -></u> <u>Web parts -> Data source web parts</u>. A detailed reference concerning management of users and roles in Kentico CMS can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -> Membership</u>.

RSS

The **RSS** page is not accessible via the department's navigation. It contains special sub-pages which provide RSS feeds of the department's content. The feeds are created using web parts of the **Syndication** module. A full reference on the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Syndication</u>.

Search

Search of the department's content is provided by the **Smart search** module. Each department has two indexes created in **Site Manager -> Administration -> Smart search**: one for its discussion forums (with name in the *<Department name> - Forums* format) and one for the actual content of the department pages (with name in the *<Department name> - General* format). For a full reference on the module, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Smart search</u>.



Workgroups

4 Workgroups

42

4.1 Workgroups overview

Workgroups are separate sub-sections within the Intranet Portal website that are dedicated to a certain activity. A workgroup's content and tools are only available within the context of the given workgroup. A full description of all the features offered by workgroups from the live site point of view can be found in Intranet User's Guide -> Workgroups.

Workgroups utilize the standard groups module. For general information about groups, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Groups</u>. There are two main elements that each workgroup is composed of: a section of documents in the content tree and a corresponding object in the administration interface. An overview of workgroup documents may be found below and information about managing workgroups via the **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Groups** interface is given in the <u>Managing</u> <u>workgroups</u> topic.

Workgroups in the content tree

If you log on to **CMS Desk**, navigate to the **Content** tab and expand the **Workgroups** node in the content tree, you will see all documents related to workgroups as depicted in the screenshot below.



The **Template** node and its child documents define the structure that Intranet Portal workgroups are all based on and the **Create** document allows users to add new workgroups directly from the live site. The workgroup creation process is described in the <u>Creating new workgroups</u> topic. Below are the document sections of several pre-defined sample workgroups, e.g. **Marketing_Strategy**. Each section is stored under a document with the same name as the workgroup that it represents.

Workgroup document structure

Expand the **Template** node to view the default document structure of Intranet portal workgroups. If you expand one of the sample workgroups, you will see that it contains the same child documents. To learn how the structure of workgroups may be modified, please see the <u>Customizing workgroups</u> topic.

Workgroups	43



Individual workgroups consist of a parent document and child documents that reflect the various workgroup sections available on the live site. The parent document serves as a <u>master page</u> for the remaining pages of the workgroup. This means that all workgroup pages inherit the header, navigation menu and all other content defined in the parent document (area 1 in the screenshot below). Particular sub-pages are displayed by the **Page placeholder** web part in the **zoneContent** web part zone on the master page (area 2 in the screenshot below).

Page Design Form Master page Properties
Save Spell check
図 Source Q, 从 略 略 ● ● □ □ □ 桷 \$\$ 團 2 B I U A#C *2 * 日日 年 年 書 書 ■ ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●
I I I II
Marketing Strategy Global Administrator : Sign Out My Dashboard How To Edit this page
You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> <u>0 active task(s)</u>
L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Board Wiki Projects Members
Portal > Workgroups > Marketing Strategy
2.

4.2 Managing workgroups

All workgroups on the Intranet Portal website can be managed through the interface located at **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Groups**. The workgroups displayed on this page may be filtered according to their display name and approval status.

New workgroups that require an administrator's approval before they are published can be approved here by clicking the **Approve** (\checkmark) action icon. Using the **Reject** (\oslash) icon returns the given workgroup to the state it was in before approval. Rejected workgroups are not displayed on the live site.

Kentico CMS Desk Conter	Go to Live Site	<u>Switch to Site Manager</u>
 Tools Abuse report BizForms Blogs Booking system Content staging Custom tables E-commerce File import 	Image: Status: Image: Compare Search	
- Serums	Actions Display name -	Approved
- 🌆 Groups	🥖 💢 🚀 ⊘ Marketing Strategy	Yes
Message boards	🥖 💢 🚀 ⊘ 🛛 Microsoft Office Upgrade	Yes
- 🔝 Newsletters - 🥪 Polls - 🗟 Project management	Tradeshow in Las Vegas	Yes

The listed workgroups may also be **Edited** (\checkmark) or **Deleted** (\thickapprox). When deleting a workgroup, it is possible to choose whether all its documents should be deleted as well. The edit action opens the **Group properties** dialog, where the settings and content of the given workgroup can be defined and managed. For more detailed information about the available options, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -></u> <u>Modules -> Groups -> Editing a group</u>.

🖧 Gro	up propei	rties								
Groups +	Microsoft Off	ice Upgrad	le							
General	Security	Members	Roles	Forums	Media librari	ies M	lessage	boards	Polls	Projects
Display n	iame:	Microsoft	Office U	pgrade						
Code na	me:	Microsoft	_Office_	Upgrade						
Descripti		data. I Microso network	ts mis oft Off machi	sion is ice on nes.	ins sampl to upgra all our	ade	* *			
Group pa	iges location:	/Workgro	ups/Mici	osoft_Offi	ce_Upg	Select		Clear	r i	
Theme:		Intranet P	ortal - Gr	een			•			
Avatar:										

Users designated as administrators of a workgroup may also edit it in a similar fashion through the live site workgroup management interface, as documented in <u>Intranet User's Guide -> Workgroups -></u> <u>Managing workgroups</u>. Certain settings, such as code names, are not available when editing on the live site.

Additional settings that are applied to all workgroups may also be specified at **Site Manager -> Settings -> Community** as described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Groups -> Settings</u>.

4.3 Managing document-based workgroup features

Most of the functionality provided by the various sub-sections of a workgroup is based on standard Kentico CMS modules and features. The following topic provides brief descriptions of individual workgroup sections and the modules and features that they are based on, including links to the appropriate documentation in **Kentico CMS Developer's Guide**. Sections linked with the features that are manageable through the **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Groups** workgroup editing interface, as described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Groups -> Editing a group</u>, are not listed in this topic.



News

46

The **News** section is based on standard Kentico CMS documents. Each published news item is a document of the **News** (*CMS.News*) document type stored under the **News** document within the workgroup's section of the content tree. For more information on document types, please refer to Developer's Guide -> Development -> Document types and transformations.

To enable the adding of news on the live site, the **User contributions (Wiki)** module is leveraged. Detailed information about the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> User contributions</u> (Wiki).

Calendar

The calendar used for event scheduling is based on the **Booking system** module. To find more information about the module, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Booking system</u>.

Documents

Document storage on the live site is provided by the **Document library** module. More information about the use of this module on the portal can be found in the <u>Document libraries</u> chapter of this guide. Complete documentation of the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Document library</u>.

Workgroups	47

Microsoft Office Upgrade	Display web part
Workgroup	You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> 0 active task(s)
Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums	Board Wiki Projects Members
artal > <u>Workgroups</u> > <u>Microsoft Office Upgrade</u> > Documents	٩ 🗌
/Workgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/Documents - page template: Intranet Port	tal - Workgroup documents 🛛 🔗
zoneTop	4
zoneCenter	ф
✓ WorkgroupSecurityAccess	
▼ HeaderText	
▼ WorkgroupDocumentLibrary 🎯	
▼ WorkgroupDocumentLibrary	Modified Workflow step
	Modified Workflow step 11/9/2010 3:35:35 PM Published
Document name *	
Document name ▲ ■ How to Use the New Microsoft Office 2010	11/9/2010 3:35:35 PM Published
Document name *	11/9/2010 3:35:35 PM Published 11/9/2010 3:30:37 PM Published
	11/9/2010 3:35:35 PM Published 11/9/2010 3:30:37 PM Published 11/9/2010 3:29:56 PM Published

Blogs

The functionality of the **Blogs** section is provided by the **Blogs** module. Blogs are standard documents in the Kentico CMS content tree, but the module also has its dedicated user interface in **CMS Desk -> Blogs**. Detailed documentation of the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Blogs</u>.

Wiki

Similar to the **News** section, the **Wiki** section is also based on standard Kentico CMS documents. Each published wiki article is of the **Simple article** (*CMS.SimpleArticle*) document type, stored under the **Wiki** document within the workgroup's section of the content tree.

To enable the adding of articles on the live site, the **User contributions (Wiki)** module is leveraged. Detailed information about the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> User contributions</u> (Wiki).

Members

The **Members** document contains a combination of the following four interconnected web parts: **Basic repeater + Group members data source + Filter + Universal pager**. These web parts are configured so that the **Basic repeater** displays users provided by the **Group members** data source. The data source displays only users who are members of the current workgroup. The filter allows further filtering of the displayed users based on their names and the pager ensures that the list of users is divided into multiple pages in case there is a large amount of workgroup members.

e Design Form Proper		_	Global Admi	nistrator : size out . Mus	☑ Display web part		
Microsoft Office Upgrade workgroup You have: 0 unread message(s) 0 active task(s)							
Home News C	Calendar Documents	Media	Blogs Forums B	Board Wiki Pro	jects Members		
rtal > Workgroups > Microsoft Offic	<u>e Upgrade</u> > Members				ρ		
	Office_Upgrade/Members - μ	bage temp	late: Intranet Portal - Wor	kgroup members			
zoneTop					÷		
zoneCenter					÷		
r HeaderText 🎡							
WorkgroupSecurityAc	⁽²⁾						
		arch					
	_	arch					
MembersDataSource	(a)						
MembersRepeater 🎡	Position	Phone	E-mail	Skype	IM		
Brad Summers	CIO	161	brads@localhost.local	company_brads	WLM: Brad_Summers		
🔮 Colin Douglas	CFO	152	colind@localhost.local	company_colind	WLM: Colin_Douglas		
Ruth Baker	System Administrator	167	ruthb@localhost.local	company_ruthb	WLM: Ruth_Baker		
MembersPager 🎡							
zoneBottom					÷		

Detailed information about data source web parts can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -></u> <u>Web parts -> Data source web parts</u>. A detailed reference concerning the management of users and roles in Kentico CMS is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -> Membership</u>.

Access

This document is not visible in a workgroup's navigation menu. Instead, users are redirected to it when they attempt to view the pages of a workgroup to which they do not have access permissions, typically when they are not members. Relevant information is displayed by the **Group security message** web part. The path to this document is specified in the **Site Manager -> Settings -> Community -> Group security access denied path** setting.

This functionality is ensured by **Group security access** web parts, which are placed on all workgroup documents apart from this one.

Management

This document is also not reachable through a workgroup's navigation menu. It allows workgroup administrators to manage the workgroup directly on the live site as described in <u>Intranet User's Guide -></u> <u>Workgroups -> Managing workgroups</u>. It must contain the **Group profile** web part, which provides all necessary functionality. The path to this document is specified in the **Site Manager -> Settings -> Community -> Group management path** setting.

The **RSS** document is not accessible via a workgroup's navigation menu. It contains special child documents which allow users to access RSS feeds of the workgroup's content. This is achieved by web parts of the **Syndication** module. A full reference can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Syndication</u>.

Search

This document ensures the functionality of the search box available under the menu in all workgroup sections and displays the search results. The necessary functionality is provided by the **Smart search dialog with results** web part. Each workgroup uses two search indexes created in **Site Manager -> Administration -> Smart search**: one for the content of its documents (with a name in format *<Workgroup display name> - Default*) and another for its forums (with a name in format *<Workgroup display name> - Default*) and another for its forums (with a name in format *<Workgroup display name> - Forums*). Information about the creation of these indexes for a sample workgroup is described in steps 10 and 11 of the <u>Creating new workgroups</u> topic. For a full reference on the smart search module, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Smart search</u>.

4.4 Creating new workgroups

All authenticated users of the Intranet Portal website may create workgroups directly on the live site. This approach is how most workgroups are normally created, since it is easy to use and automatically performs many tasks that are necessary for the correct functioning of the new workgroup. The details of this process may be found in Intranet User's Guide -> Workgroups -> Creating a new workgroup.

This feature is facilitated by the **Group registration** web part. It is possible to modify how workgroups are created by changing the properties of this web part. To do so, access **CMS Desk -> Content**, select the **Workgroups -> Create** document from the content tree, switch to the **Design** tab and **Configure** () the web part (named **WorkgroupRegistration** by default).

Kentico CMS Desk Content My desk	Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Portal 💌 User: Global Adr	ministrator v5.5.3996 R2 Sign Ou
New Delete Move Down Content management	Edit Preview Live site List Search View mode Other	
Intranet Portal	Page Design Form Properties	Display web part content
Hone Grand Company Grand Departments Grand Workgroups		You have: <u>0 unread message(s) 0 active task(s)</u> Blogs Forums Employees
	<u>Workgroups</u> > Create	٩
	/////////////////////////////////	
Documents	▼ zoneTop	4
News Events	▼ zoneLeft	💠 ▼ zoneRight 🔶
Media	HeaderText Orkgroup	 WorkgroupsViewer
🖶 📄 Blogs	▼ DescriptionText ∰	and the second s
Forums		
Employees Search	VorkgroupRegistration	Tradeshow in Las Vegas
a Galili Galilia Logon a Galilia Files a Galilia Special pages	Description:	Microsoft Office Upgrade
	Any site member can join Approve members: Only approved members can join Only approved members can join except for invited members	Marketing Strategy
	Anybody can view the content Content access: Orly group members can view the content OK	
	▼ zoneBottom	

Additional settings related to workgroups and their creation may be specified at **Site Manager -> Settings -> Community** as described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Groups -> Settings</u>.

A new workgroup may also be defined manually in the administration interface, as is demonstrated in the following example:



1. Log on to **CMS Desk** as a global administrator (username *administrator* with a blank password by default) and the **Content** tab will automatically be displayed. The first thing that needs to be done is create the documents that will form the section of the portal dedicated to the new workgroup. Expand the **Workgroups** node in the content tree, select the **Template** child node and create a copy of it under the same parent. This can be done either using the **Copy** button from the menu above the content tree or by holding down the Control key and dragging the given node to its target location in the tree. When copying, ensure that the **Copy also all child documents** box is checked.

© 2011 Kentico Software



2. Select the new copy of the **Template** document and switch to the **Form** tab. Now change the **Document name** to the name that you wish to give to the new workgroup. This example uses *New_Product_Line*.

🜺 Ken	tico							<u>Go to Liv</u>	<u>e Site</u>	Switch t	to Site Man
CMS		Conten	t My desk	Tools	Administra	ation					
		Сору 🕆 👚	Up				•		5		
New Dele	te 📄 I	Move 🛛 🦊	Down	Edit	Preview	/ Live	e site	List	Sear	ch	
Co	ntent man	agement			Vie	w mode	Э		Oth	er	
🖃 🅘 Intrane	t Portal			Page	Design	Form	Master	page Pro	perties		
- Hom											
🔁 📄 Com				E Sa	ve 🐯	Spell ch	песк				
	artments agroups										
<u> </u>	emplate.♥			Docume	ent name:	New P	roduct l	_ine			
- 🗋 c	reate			Teaser	image:	La Up	load file				
		_Strategy⇒ Office_Upg		Publish	from:				🕸 <u>Nov</u>	N	
	_	_in_Las_V		Publish	to:				🔊 <u>Nov</u>	N	
	emplate 🕈										
🗄 📄 Docu	ments										

Click 🖬 Save.

3. Switch to the **Properties -> URLs** tab and change the value of the **Document alias** property to *New_Product_Line* as well. The value of this property will be used in the URL of the workgroup's documents, so it cannot contain spaces or other forbidden characters. When a workgroup is created automatically, the name specified for the workgroup is used as the value of this property and any forbidden characters are converted to underscores.

Kentico		Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Porta
CMS Desk Content My des	k Tools Administrat	tion
📄 🙀 🖗 Copy 🕆 Up		
New Delete 🍛 Move 🦊 Down	Edit Preview	
Content management	View	v mode Other
Intranet Portal	Page Design F	Form Master page Properties
Home	General	Save
Departments	URLs	
🖉 🧧 Vorkgroups	Template	
🕕 📄 Template 🏓	Metadata	Path
📄 Create	Categories	Document alias: New_Product_Line
吏 📄 Marketing_Strategy 🏓	Menu	Document URL path:
	Workflow	Use custom URL path
🕂 📄 Tradeshow_in_Las_Vegas 🕈	Versions	
New_Product_Line Documents	Related docs	Extended properties
Documents News	Linked docs	URL extensions:
Events	Security	Use custom URL extensions
Media	Attachments	Track campaign:
	_	Document aliases
🖃 📄 Employees	•	
Search		🙀 Add new alias
⊕ 📄 RSS		
📄 Logon		

Click **Save**. With default Intranet Portal website settings, a document alias will automatically be created for the previous value of the **Document alias** property. **Delete** (**X**) this alias, so that the documents of the workgroup cannot be accessed under the old URL.

Page	Design	Form	Master page	Properties	;																			
General			Carlo																					
URLs			Save																					
Template																								
Metadata			Path																					
Categorie	s		Document alias	: New_	v_Pr	Pro	rodu	uct_	Line															
Menu			Document URL	path:																				
Workflow				🔽 Us	Jse o	se cu	cus	stom	1 URL	. path	h													
Versions																								
Related d	ocs		Extended prope											_										
Linked doo	cs		URL extensions																					
Security			Track campaigr	Us Us	Jse o	se cu	cus	stom	URL	. exte	ensior	ns												
Attachme	nts		Thack campaign																					
			Document aliase										 											
			Actions	URL path											URL exter	nsions	T	rack	ampa	ign	Lan	guage		
				/Workgroups	ps/Te	s/Ter	Tem	nplat	(e-(1)	ו											Eng	lish - U	nited	States
																				It	ems (oer pag	je: 2	25 💌

4. Now that the workgroup's documents are prepared, the workgroup object itself must be added to the system. Go to **Tools -> Groups** and click the **& New group** link at the top of the page.

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk T	ools Administration	<u>Go to Live Site</u>	Switch to Site Manager
 Tools Abuse report BizForms Blogs Booking system Content stagin Custom tables E-commerce File import 	ng	K Groups K New group Group name: Status:)	_	
- Sorums		Actions	Display name 🔺	A	pproved
- 🍇 Groups 		1 🗙 🖋	Marketing Strategy	Y	es
Message boar		/ 🗶 🖋	Microsoft Office Up	grade Y	es
 Mewsletters Polls Project manag Reporting Web analytics 		₽₩∢	Tradeshow in Las	Vegas Y	es

The **New group** form will be displayed. Fill in the following fields:

- **Display name** the name of the workgroup that will be displayed on the website and in the administration interface. This example uses *New Product Line*.
- **Code name** a unique name used to identify the workgroup. The value of this field must be the same as that of the *Document alias* property set in step 3 to ensure that links to the workgroup function correctly. For the purposes of this example, the value must be *New_Product_Line*.
- **Description** text describing the new workgroup.
- Group pages location contains the alias path of the node that contains the workgroup's documents. Select the */Workgroups/New_Product_Line* node for the purposes of this example.
- Avatar allows the selection of the workgroup avatar image used for graphical representation.
- **Approve members** this selection determines if users can join the workgroup with or without a workgroup administrator's approval. The *Only approved members can join* option requires all new members to be approved, while *Only approved members can join except for invited members* allows users who accept an invitation from a workgroup member to join without approval.
- **Content access** this selection determines what type of users can view the content of the workgroup. Please keep in mind that if the *Only group members can view the content* option is selected, users cannot apply to join the workgroup and must be invited to become members.
- Notify group admins when a user joins/leaves if checked, workgroup administrators will receive a notification e-mail when a user joins/leaves the workgroup.
- Notify group admins on pending members if checked, workgroup administrators will receive a notification e-mail when a user requests to join the workgroup and approval is required.

🍇 New group	
Groups • New group	
Display name:	New Product Line
Code name:	New_Product_Line
	The purpose of this workgroup is to prepare our new product line.
Description:	-
Group pages location:	/Workgroups/New_Product_Line Select Clear
Avatar:	Upload: Browse Select pre-defined avatar
Approve members:	 Any site member can join Only approved members can join Only approved members can join except for invited members
Content access:	 Anybody can view the content Site members can view the content Only group members can view the content
Notifications:	Notify group admins when a user joins/leaves Notify group admins on pending members OK

Click OK.

5. Now return to the **Content** tab, select the **Workgroups/New_Product_Line** document from the content tree and switch to its **Properties -> General** tab. Click the **Change** button next to the **Owned by group** property, choose the *New Product Line* workgroup in the displayed dialog and check the **Inherit by child documents** box.





This assigns the given document and all documents under it to the workgroup object that was created in step 4, which ensures that the tools provided by these documents operate correctly within the context of the new workgroup.

6. When a default Intranet Portal workgroup is created automatically, several other associated objects are also added to the system. These include a forum group, forum and media library under the given workgroup, a tag group and a pair of search indexes for the content of the workgroup. The next steps describe how these objects can be defined manually.

7. To add forums to a workgroup through the administration interface, go to **Tools -> Groups**, edit (\checkmark) the **New Product Line** workgroup, open its **Forums** tab and click the **Mew forum group** link. Forums are described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Forums</u>, so please refer to this chapter if you are unfamiliar with the use of the forum management interface.

56

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration		<u>Go to</u>	o Live Site	Switch to Site Mana	ger s	Site: Intra
Tools Abuse report		Groups								
··· 📑 BizForms ··· 🔲 Blogs ··· 🙀 Booking system		General	Security	Members	Roles	Forums	Media librarie	es Message boards	Polls	Projects
Content staging Custom tables E-commerce		New for								
🕞 File import 🕺 Forums 🖧 Groups		No data fo	ound.							
Media libraries										

Fill in the displayed form according to the following information:

- **Group display name** the name of the forum group that will be displayed on the website and in the administration interface. When a workgroup's initial forum group is created automatically, this name is in format *<Display name of the edited workgroup> forums*, for example *New Product Line forums*.
- Group code name a unique name used to identify the forum group.
- **Description** a text description for the forum group that will be displayed on the website.
- Forum group base URL the URL of the document where the workgroup's forums are displayed. Default workgroups use the *Forums* child document, so enter ~/*Workgroups/New_Product_Line/ Forums.aspx* for the purposes of this example.
- Forum group unsubscription URL the URL of a page where users can unsubscribe from the forums under the given group. On the default Intranet Portal, this page may be found at ~/Special-Pages/Forum-Unsubscribe.aspx and the URL can be loaded from the value of the Site Manager -> Forums -> Forum unsubscription URL setting automatically by checking the Inherit from settings box.

https://www.comport.com/action/files

Groups •	New Produ	ct Line						
General	Security	Members	Roles	Forums	Media libraries	Message boards	Polls	Projects
Groups •	New forum	group						
	splay name: de name: on:			roduct Line s_group_2		90-ac63-ecdf891d(
Forum gr	oup base U	RL:	~/Wor	kgroups/Ne	ew_Product_Lin	e/Forums.aspx	🗖 Inher	it from settings
Forum gr	oup unsubs	cription URL	_	cial-Pages/ DK	Forum-Unsubs	cribe.aspx	🗹 Inher	it from settings

Click **OK**. The **Forums** tab of the new forum group will now be displayed. Click the **Add forum** link and enter the following details:

• Forum display name - the name of the forum that will be displayed on the website and in the administration interface. When a workgroup's initial forum is created automatically, it is named

General discussion.

- Forum code name a unique name used to identify the forum. It must end with the following string: _group_<GUID of the edited workgroup>. This is necessary to ensure that the forum will be fully functional. A workgroup's GUID is a string of 32 characters generated when the workgroup is created and serves as a globally unique identifier. If necessary, the GUID of a workgroup may be found in the database, specifically the GroupGUID column of the Community_Group table.
- **Description** a text description for the forum that will be displayed on the website.
- Forum base URL, Forum unsubscription URL leave the *Inherit from forum group* boxes checked to use the same values as the parent forum group.

The remaining fields may be left unchanged for the purposes of this example.

🇞 Group properties						
Groups • New Product Line						
General Security Members	Roles	Forums	Media libraries	Message board	s Polls	Projects
Groups • New Product Line for	ums					
Forums General View						
Forums • New forum						
Forum diaplay pama:	General di					
Forum display name:	General di	scussion				
Forum code name:	General di	scussion	_group_2be6f81a	a-5f26-4690-ac6		
Description:				~		
Forum base URL:	~/Workgro	ups/New	Product_Line/F	orums.aspx	🗷 Inherit fr	om forum group
Forum unsubscription URL:	~/Special-	Pages/Fo	orum-Unsubscrib	e.aspx	🗹 Inherit fr	om forum group
Require e-mail addresses:	🔲 🗖 Inhe	rit from fo	rum group			
Display e-mail addresses:	🗖 🗖 Inhe	rit from fo	rum group			
Enable WYSIWYG editor:	🗖 🗖 Inhe	rit from fo	rum group			
Use security code (CAPTCHA):	🗖 🗖 Inhe	rit from fo	rum group			
Forum is open:	V					
Forum is locked:						
Forum is moderated:						
	OK					

Click **OK** to create the new forum.

8. Media libraries can be created on the **Media libraries** tab of the same group editing interface. Information about managing media libraries may be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Media</u> <u>libraries</u>. There are no special requirements for defining media libraries under workgroups.

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration		<u>Go t</u>	o Live Site	Switch to Site Mana	<u>qer</u> 9	Site: Intra
Tools Abuse report	Content	E Gro								
BizForms		Groups •	New Prod	uct Line						
	1	General	Security	Members	Roles	Forums	Media librarie	s Message boards	Polls	Projects
Content staging	g	in the second se	dia library							
E-commerce		No data fo	ound.							
Sorums										
Media libraries	q									

9. Now create the workgroup's tag group, which is intended for the tagging of blog posts under the workgroup's **Blogs** section. For more information about tags, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -></u> <u>Modules -> Tags</u>. Go to **Site Manager -> Development -> Tag groups** and click the **Q New tag group** link.

• CMS Site Monoger	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support
 Kentico CMS Site Manager Development Categories Countries Custom tables Custom tables Document types E-mail templates Form controls Inline controls Notifications Page layouts Page layouts Relationship names System tables Tag groups Time zones Ul cultures Web parts Web templates Web templates 	Site: Ir Actic P P P P P P P P P	 Blogs Content Finance Global HR IT Managen Marketing Microsoft PR & Mar Production) Strategy Office Upgrade keting	Development		Support
Workflows		•••	w in Las Vega	s		
	-	••				

Fill in the **New tag group** form. By default, the display and code names of the tag group are the same as those of the new workgroup, so enter these values.

The tag group also needs to be assigned to the appropriate workgroup documents. Return to **CMS Desk** -> **Content**, select the **Workgroups/New_Product_Line** document from the content tree and switch to its **Properties -> Metadata** tab. Here, uncheck the **Inherit** box under the **Page tag group** drop-down list and select the *New Product Line* tag group.

Kentico CMS Desk Content My des	k Tools Administration	<u>Go to Live Sit</u>	e Switch to Site Manager	Site: Intranet Portal 💌	User: Global .
New Delete Move Down			earch Dther		
Workgroups Greate Marketing_Strategy*	Page Design Form General URLs Template Metadata	Master page Propertie			
Tradeshow_in_Las_Vegas Tradeshow_in_Las_Vegas Mew_Product_Line Home Home Calendar Ocuments Media Blogs	Versions Related docs Linked docs Security Attachments	Page description:	2 Inherit	4 	
Bogs Forums Wiki Projects Members Access Management		Page keywords: (separated by comma)	∑ Inherit	۸ ۲	
RSS Search Documents Pows Events Media Blogs Forums Forums		Page tag group:	lew Product Line Inherit nter tags separated with comma	. Example: dogs, cats	lect

Click **Save**. All child documents will inherit this tag group.

10. Next, to ensure that searching within the new workgroup is possible, appropriate smart search indexes must be defined. To learn more about the smart search module, please see <u>Developer's Guide - > Modules -> Smart search</u>. Go to **Site Manager -> Administration -> Smart search** and click the **Amministration -> Smart search** and click the **Mew index** link.

Kentico					Switch to CMS De
CMS Site Manager	Sites Admini	stration Settings Development	Licenses Support		
Administration	🔊 Smart s	earch indexes			
	New index				
😸 Banned IPs					
🛷 E-mail queue	Actions	Display name 🔺	Last rebuild time	Index type	Index status
… □ Event log … ⁄? Permissions	1 🖉 💥 🔞	Finance - Default	12/10/2010 2:01:40 PM	Documents	Ready
Recycle bin		Finance - Forums	12/10/2010 2:01:40 PM	Forums	Ready
🥵 Roles	1 🖉 💥 🔞	HR - Default	12/10/2010 2:01:43 PM	Documents	Ready
🕑 Scheduled tasks	1 🖉 💥 🔞	HR - Forums	12/10/2010 2:01:43 PM	Forums	Ready
Smart search	1 🖉 💥 🛞	Intranet Portal - General content	12/10/2010 2:01:49 PM	Documents	Ready
System	🥒 💥 🛞	Intranet Portal - General forums	12/10/2010 2:01:50 PM	Forums	Ready
📲 Users	N 💥 🛞	IT - Default	12/10/2010 2:01:54 PM	Documents	Ready
🔤 📲 Web farm	🥒 💥 🛞	IT - Forums	12/10/2010 2:01:54 PM	Forums	Ready
	N 💥 🛞	Management - Default	12/10/2010 2:01:57 PM	Documents	Ready
	1 🗶 🗶	Management - Forums	12/10/2010 2:01:57 PM	Forums	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🚳	Marketing Strategy - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:03 PM	Documents	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🚳	Marketing Strategy - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:03 PM	Forums	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🔞	Microsoft Office Upgrade - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:10 PM	Documents	Ready
	1 🗶 🛞	Microsoft Office Upgrade - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:10 PM	Forums	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🛞	PR & Marketing - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:13 PM	Documents	Ready
	N 💥 🛞	PR & Marketing - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:13 PM	Forums	Ready
	/ 🗙 🛞	Production - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:19 PM	Documents	Ready
	N 💥 🛞	Production - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:19 PM	Forums	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🛞	Sales - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:22 PM	Documents	Ready
	1	Sales - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:22 PM	Forums	Ready
	1 🖉 💥 🛞	Tradeshow in Las Vegas - Default	12/10/2010 2:02:25 PM	Documents	Ready
	1 🗙 🚯	Tradeshow in Las Vegas - Forums	12/10/2010 2:02:25 PM	Forums	Ready
					,

First, create the index for regular workgroup documents by entering the following values into the **New** search index form:

- **Display name** the name of the index used in the administration interface. The standard format for this name is <*Display name of the indexed work group*> *Default*, for example *New Product Line Default*. This format is used when a workgroup search index is created automatically, but it is not strictly necessary.
- **Code name** a unique name used to identify the index. It **must** be in format *default_group_<GUID* of *the indexed workgroup>* in order for the index to be applied to the given workgroup.
- Analyzer type leave the default value.
- Stop words leave the default value.
- Index type select *Documents*.
- Assign index to website Intranet Portal leave this box checked.

60

🙀 New search index				
Search indexes	New index			
Display name:	New Product Line - Default			
Code name:	default_group_2be6f81a-5f26-4690-ac63-ecdf891d0			
Analyzer type:	Standard 🗸			
Stop words:	(Default)			
Index type:	Documents 💌			
	🗹 Assign index to website Intranet Portal			
	ОК			

Click **OK**. Now switch to the **Index** tab of the newly created index, click the **Add allowed content** link and fill in the displayed form according to the following information:

- Path the path to the documents that should be indexed. For this example, either manually enter / Workgroups/New_Product_Line/% or click the Select button and choose the /Workgroups/ New_Product_Line node with the Only sub-items box checked.
- **Document types** the document types that should be indexed. It is recommended to leave this field empty to allow all types of workgroup content to be indexed.
- Including ad-hoc forums, Including blog comments, Including message boards these fields determine what types of additional content should be indexed. When a workgroup index is created automatically, these fields are disabled, but you may set them as required. Please note, the forums contained by default Intranet Portal workgroups are not ad-hoc forums, they are pre-defined and thus require their own search index as shown in the next step.

🔊 Smart search indexes						
Smart search indexes Nev	Smart search indexes + New Product Line - Default					
General Index Sites	Cultures					
Item list New allowed item	1					
Path:	/Workgroups/New_Product_Line/%	Select				
Document types:		Select	Clear			
	Leave the field empty if you wish to che	oose all docume	nt types.			
Including ad-hoc forums:						
Including blog comments:						
Including message boards:						
	ОК					

Click **OK**. Switch to the **Cultures** tab and add the culture(s) used by your website. Finally, return to the **General** tab and **B Rebuild** the index.

11. In a similar fashion, a second search index must be added to allow searching of the workgroup's forums. To do this, go back to the **Smart search indexes** list, click the **Smart search indexes** list, click the **Smart search index** link again and enter the following values into the form:

• **Display name** - the name of the index used in the administration interface. The standard format for this name is <*Display name of the indexed work group*> - *Forums*, for example *New Product Line - Forums*. This format is used when a workgroup search index is created automatically, but it is not strictly necessary.

- **Code name** a unique name used to identify the index. It **must** be in format *forums_group_<GUID* of the indexed workgroup> in order for the index to be applied to the given workgroup.
- Analyzer type leave the default value.
- Stop words leave the default value.
- Index type select Forums.
- Assign index to website Intranet Portal leave this box checked.

🙀 New sea	arch index
Search indexes	► New index
Display name:	New Product Line - Forums
Code name:	forums_group_2be6f81a-5f26-4690-ac63-ecdf891d0
Analyzer type:	Standard 💌
Stop words:	(Default)
Index type:	Forums 💌
	Assign index to website Intranet Portal
	ОК

Click **OK**. Switch to the **Index** tab of the new index and click the **Add allowed forums** link. Use the **Site name** drop-down list to select your Intranet Portal website. Now enter a string in the following format into the **Forums** field: *_group_<GUID of the indexed workgroup>. The asterisk character (*) serves as a wildcard, ensuring that all forums under the specified workgroup using the correct code name format (as specified in step 7) are indexed. The **Select** button cannot be used to assign the index to workgroup forums.

🔊 Smart search indexes				
Smart search indexes New Product Line - Forums				
General	Index Sites			
Item list New allowed item				
Site name:	Intranet Portal			
Forums:	*_group_2be6f81a-5f26-4690-ac63-(Select			
	Leave the field empty if you wish to choose all forums on the selected site.			
	ОК			

Click OK. Now return to the General tab and ⁽³⁾ Rebuild the index.

Please keep in mind
When a workgroup is deleted, its search indexes will remain in the system and must be removed manually.

12. The workgroup and its associated objects are now created. If you go to the live site, you should see it listed under the **Workgroups** section of the portal, as depicted below. If you open the workgroup, all sections should be fully functional (but without any content).



4.5 Customizing workgroups

It is possible to customize the website sections dedicated to workgroups by adding new documents, deleting unwanted documents or modifying existing ones. This can be done at two levels:

- Customizing all workgroups
- <u>Customizing one specific workgroup</u>



Relocating and renaming default workgroup sub-pages

The configuration of many web parts and widgets used within the sections dedicated to workgroups and certain other settings are dependent on the alias paths of particular workgroup sub-pages. Therefore, it is not recommended to change the default alias paths.

In case that this is absolutely necessary, please refer to the <u>Customizing the portal -></u> <u>Modifying structure of the website</u> topic for more details on how this can be achieved.

Customizing all workgroups

If you wish to customize a document for all workgroups, you can perform the required change by adding, removing or configuring the web parts of the given document on the **Content -> Edit -> Design** tab of **CMS Desk**. The default documents of all workgroups share common <u>page templates</u>, so changes made to a document under any existing workgroup or to the documents under the **Workgroups/Template** node will immediately affect every workgroup.

When altering the workgroup document structure by adding or deleting a document, the change needs to be carried out under the **Template** node. This will ensure that all new workgroups are created with the updated document structure. Customization of this type does not affect existing workgroups and must be performed for each one individually to ensure uniformity across all workgroups.

The following example will demonstrate how to add a simple FAQ page to the workgroup Template:

1. Log on to **CMS Desk** and on the **Content** tab, select the **Workgroups/Template** document in the content tree. Click the **New** button above the tree. When the **New document** dialog appears, select the **Page (menu item)** document type.



2. In the following dialog, enter *FAQ* into the **Page name** field and choose to **Create a blank page** using the **Simple** layout (in a real-world scenario, you may use any other page template according to your specific needs). Finally, click **Save** to create the new document.

Save Save and create another Spell check					
Page name: FAQ					
🔘 Use page template 🖉	Inherit from parent page	Oreate a blank page			
Layout name:			Search		
Full page (CSS)	Grid 2x2 cells	Grid 2x2 cells (CSS)	Grid 3x2 cells	Grid 3x2 cells (CSS)	E
Simple	Three columns	Three columns - 20/60/20 (CSS)	Three columns - 25/50/25 (CSS)	Three columns - 33/33/33 (CSS)	
					-

3. The document will be added as the first item under the **Template** node. Because the document order in the content tree determines the position of the given page in the workgroup navigation menu, you will probably want to move the **FAQ** document further down. Drag and drop it to the desired position in the content tree.

😑 📄 Template 🏓
📄 Home
··· 📄 News
🗉 📄 Calendar
Documents
🕣 📄 Media
🗉 📄 Blogs
📄 Board
····📄 Wiki
Projects
Members
FAQ
Access
🗉 📄 RSS
🔤 Search

4. Now switch to the **Design** tab of the editing interface and add (+) a **Text -> Editable text** web part to the only zone on the page. Leave the properties of the new web part in their default state.

Page Design	Form Properties							🗹 Display	web part cont
workgroup				Global Ad	Iministrator	: <u>Sign Out</u>	My Dashboard	<u>How To</u> <u>Ed</u>	<u>it this page</u>
						٢	′ou have: <u>0 unre</u>	ad message(s) 0 a	<u>ctive task(s)</u>
t Home	News Calendar	Documents	Media Blogs	Forums	Board	Wiki	Projects	Members	FAQ
Portal > Workgroup	ps > <u>Template</u> > FAQ						[2
/Workgrou	ps/Template/FAQ - pag	e template: ad-hoo	:						
▼ zoneLeft									
editabletes	kt 🎡								

5. Go to the **Page** tab and add the actual text content to the page. For the purposes of this example, you can just add some sample text as shown below. Click **Save** when you are done.

Page Design Form Properties
Save Spell check
図 Source Q, ※ № @ @ @ @ ! い 여 M % 図 Ø B / U +## ×₂ ײ 注 注 注 译 译 要 要 ■ ■ @ @ @ ↓
workgroup
You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> <u>0 active task</u>
L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Board Wiki Projects Members FAQ
Portal > Workgroups > Template > FAQ
Frequently Asked Questions
Some sample text
F

6. At this point, the document uses an ad-hoc page template. To ensure that modifications made to a single **FAQ** page will be reflected on the **FAQ** pages of other workgroups, the ad-hoc template needs to be saved as a new regular page template. To do this, go to the **Properties -> Template** tab and click

the **Save as new page template** action.

Page Design	Form Properties
General	
URLs	Save
Template	
Metadata	Template
Categories	Ad-hoc: FAQ Select
Menu	
Workflow	Save as new template
Versions	👰 Inherit template
Related docs	
Linked docs	Edit template properties
Security	

In the Save as new page template dialog which pops-up, enter the following details:

- Template display name: Intranet Portal Workgroup FAQ
- Template code name: IntranetPortal.WorkgroupFAQ
- Template category: Intranet Portal
- Template description: enter some text describing the page template.

Click **OK**. This ensures that future workgroups all use the same template for the **FAQ** page.

7. Now the document is complete. All new workgroups will now be created with a **FAQ** page. If you want this page to be present in all workgroups, the document will have to be added to all existing workgroups individually. However, the process is now easier since the page template created in the previous step can be selected directly when creating the document.

Setting the default widget layout on the Home page

A special type of customization may be performed on the **Home** document of every workgroup. If you select this document under one of the sample workgroups and switch to the **Design** tab, you will see that it contains two widget zones: **zoneLeftBottom** and **zoneRightWidgets**.

Page Design Form Properties	Display web part conte
Microsoft Office Upgrade	<u>Dashboard</u> <u>How To</u> <u>Edit this page</u> ave: <u>0 unread message(s)</u> 0 active task(s)
L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Board Wiki Pr	rojects Members
Partal > Workgroups > Microsoft Office Upgrade > Home	2
▼/Workgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/Home - page template: Intranet Portal - Workgroup home page ▼ zoneTop	<u>}</u>
ZoneLeft WorkgroupSecurityAccess WidgetActions ZoneLeftBottom Ag zoneLeftBottom Ag Workgroup_LatestNews And And And And And And And And And	 zoneRight Shortcuts (a) My profile Edit my profile My messages My invitations
KICK-OFF MEETING ON MONDAY 11/5/2010 There will be a workgroup meeting on Monday at 10:00 AM. We will discuss what needs to be done to carry out the project successfully.	<u>My tasks</u> <u>Create a new workgroup</u> <u>Join the workgroup</u> <u>Manage the workgroup</u> <u>Invite to workgroup</u>
WELCOME TO THE MICROSOFT OFFICE UPGRADE WORKGROUP! 11/3/2010 Welcome to the Microsoft Office Upgrade workgroup. This workgroup has been established in order to ensure upgrade of Microsoft Office on all our network machines from version 2007 to the brand new version 2010.	Contracting to the second

These zones are customizable directly on the live site by workgroup administrators, as described in Intranet User's Guide -> Workgroups -> Modifying a workgroup home page. On the **Design** tab, the widgets in these two zones may be handled in the same way as web parts. However, any changes made in the widget zones will only affect the *default* layout of the widgets. Modifications made for a specific workgroup by a workgroup administrator will not be overridden and will still be displayed on the live site.

A full widgets reference may be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -> Widgets</u>.

Customizing a specific workgroup

When modifying only one specific workgroup, documents may be added or deleted without influencing other workgroups. However, if you need to alter one of the existing default documents, certain additional steps need to be taken due to the fact that workgroups share page templates. This is demonstrated in the following example:

1. Log on to CMS Desk and on the Content tab, select the Workgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/

Forums document in the content tree. Switch to the **Properties -> Template** tab and click **Clone as ad-hoc**. This creates a separate copy of the page template used by the **Forums** page and any modifications will now only affect the document under the given workgroup.

Page Design	Form Properties
General	Save
URLs	
Template	
Metadata	Template
Categories	Intranet Portal - Workgroup forums Select
Menu	
Workflow	Save as new template
Versions	👰 Inherit template
Related docs	
Linked docs	Clone template as ad-hoc
Security	Edit template properties
Attachments	
	r Inherit content
	Use page template settings
	 Do not inherit any content
	Inherit only master page
	Select inherited levels

2. Now switch to the **Design** tab and add (+) a **Text -> Editable text** web part. In the **Web part properties** dialog, select the *Intranet content box* option for the **Web part container** property and enter *Forum Guidelines* as the **Container title**.

🖉 Web part properties	(Editable text) Webpage Dialog							
鷸 Web part pro	perties (Editable text)	<u>on</u>						
General Layout								
図 Source 🐧 从 階 🕲 冊 ⑲ 母 ∽ ♀ 桷 🅼 圀 🖉 / Β Ι ௶ 🔤 ×₂ ײ 狂 田 伊 谭 臣 吾 吾 〓 🍓 🎒 🗘								
style	🔹 Format 🔹 🔹 Font 🔹 Size 🔹 📲 🌆 🦓							
Default	Web part container	-						
Visibility Content	Web part container:							
Design Behavior	Container title: FORUM GUIDELINES							
Security Web part container	Container CSS class:							
HTML Envelope AJAX	Container custom content:							
Time zones		=						
Partial caching	HTML Envelope							
	Content before:	+						
Refresh content	OK Cancel Apply							
http://localhost/KenticoCMS_5.5R2.3996/CMSModules/PortalEngine/UI/Webparts/WebPartPr 🗣 Local intranet Protected Mode: Off								

Click OK and move the new web part above the existing WorkgroupForumList web part.

3. Go to the **Page** tab and add some text content into the region above the displayed forums. For the purposes of this example, you can just add some sample text as shown below. Click **Save** when you

are done.

Page Design Form Properties									
Save Spell check									
□ Source □ □ □ ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ● ● □ ●	III 🛛 🕵 🙈 🕸								
Microsoft Office Upgrade									
	ojects Members								
Portal > Workgroups > Microsoft Office Upgrade > Forums	م								
Forums FORUM GUIDELINES	LATEST POSTS								
Sample forum guidelines	Just FYI: half of the computers have already been upgraded. If everything goes well, we should be								
	RE:How is the upgrade going? 11/8/2010 Well, not that I think that this would have any positive effect on the staffs on-line behavior,								
•	RE:How is the upgrade going? 11/8/2010 Oh my goodness, that's typical of Hector, he will never								
Forum Threads Posts Last post	understand what on-line security is all								
Microsoft Office Upgrade forums	RE:'New user manual' request 11/8/2010 No comments :-))))) fve								

4. Once you are finished, go to the live site, open the **Microsoft Office Upgrade** workgroup's website section and view the **Forums** page. You should see the text that you entered displayed above the forums, enclosed in the specified container.

Microsoft Office Upgrade			L Global Administrator : Sign	n <u>Out My Dashboard</u> <u>How To</u> <u>Edit this page</u> You have: <u>0 unread message(s) 0 active task(s)</u>
L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums	Board	Wiki	Projects Members	
Portal > Workgroups > Microsoft Office Upgrade > Forums				٩ 🗌
FORUM GUIDELINES Sample forum guidelines				LATEST POSTS RE:How is the upgrade going? 11/8/2010 Just FY: half of the computers have already been upgraded. If everything goes well, we should be
Forum	Threads	Posts	Last post	RE:How is the upgrade going? 11/8/2010
Microsoft Office Upgrade forums	Well, not that I think that this would have any positive effect on the staff's on-line behavior,			
General discussion	3	13	BradS (11/8/2010 7:18:12 PM)	RE:How is the upgrade going? 11/8/2010 Oh my goodness, that's typical of Hector,

If you check the Forums page of any other workgroup, you will see that it is not modified.

5. In case you wish to re-use this modified page template for other workgroups, go back to **CMS Desk -> Content**, select the **Workgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/Forums** document again and return to

the **Properties -> Template** tab. This time, click **Save as new template**, which will allow you to create a new permanent page template identical to the one used by this document that can be assigned to any other document.



Project management
5 Project management

5.1 Project management overview

Project management is a tool that helps organize work and keep track of its progress on the Intranet Portal website. This is achieved by using objects called *projects* that represent a planned activity with a specific goal. Projects contain objects called *tasks* that are individually assigned to specific users. Tasks do not necessarily have to be a part of any project and may also created and assigned individually. These types of tasks are referred to as *personal tasks*. Every project and task has a set of properties that are used to define its goal, time frame, priority, current status and other characteristics.

An overview of project management and examples of use on the Intranet Portal from the live site perspective can be found in <u>Intranet User's Guide -> Project Management</u>. A full reference for the module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Project Management</u>.

Projects can be created, viewed and managed either on pages (documents) containing the **Project list** web part or through the administration interface. When a project is created on a certain document, it is bound to that specific document. Projects may only be accessed on the document that they are bound to. There are several types of projects available on the Intranet Portal:

- Department projects
- Workgroup projects
- Ad-hoc projects

The website also uses other types of web parts and widgets that allow users to interact with projects and tasks. These web parts may be configured (^(a)) as necessary. Information about all project management web parts and their properties can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Project</u> Management -> Project management web parts and widgets.

The master page of the website and individual master pages of departments and workgroups contain the **Task info panel** web part. This web part displays the amount of active tasks that are assigned to the current user and serves as a direct link to a page showing task details (this document is described below). Due to being placed on the master pages, the web part is available in the header of all pages.

Kentico CMS Desk Content My des		istrator v5.5.3996 R2 Sign Ou
New Delete Avore Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search	
Content management	View mode Other Page Design Form Master page Properties page template: Intranet Portal - Master page	Display web part content
Company Departments Workgroups Documents	zoneLogo LogoImage Intranet Solution	÷
News Media Media Blogs Forums Employees Search RS5 Logon	✓ zoneLanguages ✓ LanguageSelector ✓	Editabia seas I Editabia seas My Dashboard I How To Sign Out
후 쉨 Files 호 쉨 Special pages	▼ CurrentUser இ ▼ zonTextBottom ▼ TaskInfoPanel இ ▼ MessagingInfoPanel இ	<u>Clobal Administrator</u> : <u>0 active task(s)</u> You have: <u>0 unread message(s)</u>
		Forums Employees

Further project management web parts can be found on the **Employees/Management/My projects and tasks** document, which implements a part of the employee profile. Here, projects and tasks relevant to the current user can be seen. The web parts on this document also allow users to create new personal tasks.

CMS Desk Content My de	iesk Tools Administration
w Delete Aver Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search
Content management	View mode Other
Intranet Portal	Page Design Form Properties
Home Company Departments Workgroups Documents	Kentico Intranet Solution
News	Home Company Departments Workgroups Documents News Events Media Bl
Events	
···· i Media ··· i Blogs	Employees > Management > My projects and tasks
- 📄 Blogs Forums	
Employees	/Employees/Management/My projects and tasks - page template: Intranet Portal - Profile - My tasks
My dashboard	▼ zoneTop
··· 📄 Profile	▼ zoneLeft
🖃 📄 Management	■ editabletext © cts and tasks
···· Invitations ···· Messages	
My projects and tasks	V MyProjects
Search	
RSS	Progress Name A Deadline Owner Status
Logon	
📄 Logon	52% Microsoft Office Upgrade, 11/30/2010 7:41:33 PM, Brad Summars (BradS)
- Tiles	52% <u>Microsoft Office Upgrade</u> 11/30/2010 7:41:33 PM Brad Summers (BradS)
⊒ Logon 	S2% Microsoft Office Upgrade 11/30/2010 7:41:33 PM Brad Summers (BradS) Image: Comparison of the second sec
- Tiles	
	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS)
🔄 Files	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Comparison of the second se
i Files	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Comparison of the second se
- Garage Files	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Status status New personal task Actions Title Deadline Owner Project Priority Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status
- Garage Files	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Comparison of the second se
- Tiles	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Status status New personal task Actions Title Deadline Owner Project Priority Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status
- Garage Files	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Status status New personal task Actions Title Actions Title Deadline Owner Project Priority Status Image: Im
	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Construction of the second se
- Tiles	38% Network Upgrade Brad Summers (BradS) TasksAssignedToMe Image: Construction of the second se

Alternatively, users with access to CMS Desk may also view their tasks and projects under the various tabs at My Desk -> My Projects and tasks.

Kentico CMS Desk Conten	t My desk Tools	Administration		<u>Go</u>	to Live Site Site: Int	tranet Portal 💌	User: Brad Su	mmers v5.	5.3996 R2	Sign Out
	K My projects	and tasks								0
My blogs	My tasks My proj	ects Tasks owned b	oy me							_
	k <u>New personal task</u>									
My projects and tasks										
	Actions	Title	Progress	Estimate (hours)	Owner	Deadline	Project	Priority	Status	
	🥒 🗙 🕆 🦊	RFP preparation	50%	0	Brad Summers (BradS)		Network Upgrade	Normal	\$	
	/ 🗶 🕆 🦊	Vendor Selection	10%	0	Brad Summers (BradS)		Network Upgrade	Normal	Δ	
									Items per page	: 25 💌

Project management general configuration

There are several possible configuration options that affect all types of projects and tasks. The statuses

and priorities that can be set for projects or tasks may be defined on the **Configuration** tab of the **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Project management** interface.

				Go to Live	e Site	Switch to	o Site Manager	Site: Intranet Portal 💌	User: G
My desk	Tools	Administration							
R Proje	ct mar	nagement							
Projects	Tasks	Configuration							
	tuses								
		i <u>New proj</u> e	ect statu	<u>s</u>					
		Actions		Name	Color	Icon	Is not started s	status Is finish status	Enabled
		/ 🗶 1	4 1	Not started		۲	Yes	No	Yes
		/ 🗙 1	4 1	On track		A	No	No	Yes
		/ 🗙 1	4 1	Atrisk		Δ	No	No	Yes
		2 🗙 1	4 1	Critical		Δ	No	No	Yes
		2 🗙 1	4 1	Canceled		*	No	No	Yes
		/ 🗙 1	4 1	Finished		~	No	Yes	Yes
	Projects Project status Task statuses	Projects Tasks Project statuses	Project management Projects Tasks Configuration Project statuses Task statuses Task priorities Actions Image:	Project management Projects Tasks Configuration Project statuses Project statuses Project statuses Task statuses Image: Configuration Image: Configuration Task statuses Image: Configuration Image: Configuration Task priorities Image: Configuration Image: Configuration	My desk Tools Administration Project management Project statuses Project statuses Project statuses Task priorities Project statuses Actions Name Actions Not started Image: Actions Image: Actions Image: Actions Nate Image: Actions Image: Actions Image: Actions Image: Actios	Project management Project statuses Task statuses Task priorities Actions Name Color Image:	My desk Tools Administration Project management Project statuses Task statuses Task priorities Actions Name Color Icons Not started Image: Statuse statuse status Image: Statuse statuse statuse status Image: Statuse statuse statuse statuse status Image: Statuse statu	My desk Tools Administration Project management Project statuses Project statuses Project statuses Task statuses Project statuses Task priorities Project statuse Actions Name Color Icon Project statuse Project statuse Actions Name Color Icon Is not started Icon Image: Project status Is not started Image: Project status Icon Image: Project status Icon	My desk Tools Administration Project management Project statuses Project statuses Project statuses Task statuses Project statuses Task priorities Project statuse Actions Name Color Icon Actions Name Color Is not started status Is finish status Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action Signature Image: Action

Additional settings may also be specified at **Site Manager -> Settings -> Project management** as described in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Project management -> Settings</u>.

To ensure that users are aware of task assignments or any events related to tasks they are involved with, project management uses a system of notification e-mails that are automatically sent when required. The format of these e-mails is based on specific <u>e-mail templates</u>, which may be customized at **Site Manager -> Development -> E-mail templates**. The following project management templates are available:

- Project Management New task sent when a new task is assigned to the user.
- Project Management Changed task sent when an assigned or owned task is in some way modified.
- Project Management Overdue task sent when an assigned task reaches its deadline before it is finished.
- Project Management Task reminder sent when the Send reminder () button is used for an assigned task.

5.2 Department projects

Each Intranet Portal department has a dedicated sub-section, where its projects can be managed from the live site by users with access to the department. For departments using the default structure, this functionality is provided by the **Project list** web part on the **Projects** document.

💒 Kentico	<u>Go to Live Site</u> Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Portal 💌 User: Global Administrator v5.5.3996 R2
CMS Desk Content My desk	Tools Administration
New Delete Move Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search
Content management	View mode Other
🖃 🍑 Intranet Portal 👘	Page Design Form Properties 🗹 Display web part
Bone Company Departments Share * Share * Share *	Image: Contract of the second secon
i JM IT♥	
Home	L Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Wiki Projects Members
Calendar	Portal > Departments > II > Projects
Documents	Portal > Departments > II > Projects
Media	
Blogs	v/Departments/IT/Projects - page template: Intranet Portal - Department projects
Forums	▼ zoneTop
🗊 📄 Wiki	v zoneCenter
Projects	
Members	▼ HeaderText
🕀 📄 RSS 🚺	
Search	▼ ProjectList 🎲
🗉 🐉 Management 🄊	Actions Name Deadline Owner Status Progress
🗉 🍰 Marketing 🕈	
🕞 🍰 Production 🏓	
🔁 🐉 Sales 🕈	▼ zoneBottom 🔶
😥 📄 Template 🏓	

Projects from all departments and their tasks can be administered at **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Project Management**.

🜺 Kentico						Go to Live Site	Switch to Sit	<u>e Manager</u>	Site: Intr
CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration	ı				
- Tools		🛐 Proje	ect ma	nagement					
BizForms		Projects	Tasks	Configuration	I.				
		🛃 New proj	<u>iect</u>						
Content stagir	-	Actions	Name		Deadline	Owner	Statu	s Progress	9
🏹 E-commerce 🕞 File import				ork Upgrade	Doddinio	Brad Summers (B	-00		38%
- 🥵 Forums 									
폙 Media libraries									
····📴 Message boar ····🏫 Newsletters	as								
··· 🥪 Polls ··· 🗟 Project manag	ement								

In order for department projects to be available on the live site, their **Project page** property must contain the path to the document where they should be displayed, for example */Departments/IT/Projects*. The value of this property can be set during the creation of a new project or when editing (\checkmark) an existing project on its **General** tab.



If you customize the website and create a document containing the **Project list** web part outside of a department somewhere on the global part of the portal, the projects created there will also be available at this location.

A full reference for the project management module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Project Management</u>.

5.3 Workgroup projects

Project management is also integrated into workgroups. Workgroup projects only operate within the scope of the workgroup that they belong under, which means that tasks can only be assigned to workgroup members, project security settings can be configured for workgroup roles instead of global site roles etc.

Similar to departments, each workgroup has a dedicated sub-section, where its projects can be managed from the live site by users with access to the workgroup. For workgroups using the default structure, this functionality is provided by the **Project list** web part on the **Projects** document.

**	Kentico	<u>Go to Live Site</u> <u>Switch to Site Manager</u> Site: Intranet Portal 🚽 User: Global Administrator v5.5.3996 R2	
1	CMS Desk Content My desk	Tools Administration	
New	Copy T Up Delete Move & Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search	
	Content management	View mode Other	-
🖃 🌍 I	ntranet Portal	Page Design Form Properties 😨 Display web pa	rt (
	Home Company Departments Workgroups 	Microsoft Office Upgrade	
	Create Marketing_Strategy Microsoft_Office_Upgrade	ᡶ Home News Calendar Documents Media Blogs Forums Board Wiki Projects Members	
	Home	Portal > Workgroups > Microsoft Office Upgrade > Projects	С
	主 📄 News		
	📄 📄 Calendar		
	Documents	Vorkgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/Projects - page template: Intranet Portal - Workgroup projects	Ż
	🗈 📄 Media	▼ zoneTop	•
	Blogs	▼ zoneCenter	•
	Forums	WorkGroupSecurityAccess	
	🗊 📄 Wiki	v editabletext	
	Projects	europieerst an	
	Members	🔻 ProjectList 🎲	
	Access	· Frojecilist 199	
	Management	Actions Name A Deadline Owner Status Progress	
	🗊 📄 RSS	Microsoft Office Upgrade 11/30/2010 7:41:33 PM Brad Summers (BradS) 3 22%	
	Search	▼ zoneBottom	
	🕒 📄 Tradeshow_in_Las_Vegas 🏓	2010Dottom	1

All projects associated with a workgroup can be accessed by editing the given workgroup via the CMS **Desk -> Tools -> Groups** interface and switching to the **Projects** tab.

🜺 Kentico				<u>Go t</u>	o Live Site	Switch to Site Manager	Site: Int	tranet Portal 💌 🛛 Us
Chac Dock	ontent My des	k Tools	Administration					
Tools Abuse report	🗞 Gr	oup prop	perties					
BizForms	Groups	Microsoft	Office Upgrade					
	Genera	Security	Members	Roles Forums	Media librarie	es Message boards F	olls Proje	cts
Content staging	New	project						
E-commerce								
📲 File import	Actio	ns Name	•	Deadline		Owner	Status	Progress
- 🥵 Forums	08	K Micros	soft Office Upgra	ade 11/30/2010	7:41:33 PM	Brad Summers (BradS)	\$	52%
Groups								
🔤 Media libraries								
📴 Message boards								
🖓 Newsletters								
🥪 🥪 Polls								
🖙 🔄 Project management	t							
🔤 Web analytics								

In order for workgroup projects to be available on the live site, their **Project page** property must contain the path to the document where they should be displayed, for example */Workgroups/ Microsoft_Office_Upgrade/Projects*. The value of this property can be set during the creation of a new project or when editing () an existing project on its **General** tab.

8	
🇞 Group prop	erties
Groups Microsoft	Office Upgrade
General Security	Members Roles Forums Media libraries Message boards Polls Projects
Projects Microsoft	Office Upgrade
Tasks General	Security
Display name:	Microsoft Office Upgrade
Code name:	Microsoft_Office_Upgrade_group_fc6918d8-9913-48
Project goal:	Upgrade Microsoft Office on all our network computers to version 2010.
Start date:	11/3/2010 19:41:24
Deadline:	11/30/2010 19:41:33
Progress:	52%
Owner:	Brad Summers (BradS) Select Clear
Status:	On track
Project page:	/Workgroups/Microsoft_Office_Upg Select Clear
Allow task ordering:	ОК

A full reference for the project management module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Project Management</u>.

5.4 Ad-hoc projects

Site administrators or developers may create projects for their own purposes directly in **CMS Desk -> Tools -> Project Management**, without specifying any document to which the projects should be bound. Projects of this type may only be managed through the administration interface and are not visible on the live site.

Kentico CMS Desk	Content	My desk	Tools	Administration	<u>G</u>	o to Live Site	Switch to Site Manage	r Site:	Intranet Portal 💌
⊡ Tools 		関 Proj	ect ma	nagement					
BizForms		Projects	Tasks	Configuration					
		New pro	<u>ject</u>						
Custom tables		Actions	Name	9 🔺	Deadline	Owner		Status	Progress
File import		 K 	Netw	ork Upgrade		Brad Summe	ers (BradS)	\$	38%
🥵 Forums		N 🗙	Sam	ole ad-hoc project		Global Admir	nistrator (administrator)	۲	0%
- 🌆 Groups									
🦷 Media libraries									
📲 Message boards 🍙 Mewsletters									
Polls									
Project manageme	ent								
Reporting									
Web analytics									

The difference between these ad-hoc projects and standard projects is that the value of their **Project page** property is empty.

🛐 Project man	agement
Projects Tasks	Configuration
Projects Sample a	id-hoc project
Tasks General	Security
Display name:	Sample ad-hoc project
Code name:	Sample_adhoc_project
	This is an example of an ad-hoc 🔺 project.
Project goal:	
Start date:	1/4/2011 11:03:14
Deadline:	Now
Progress:	0%
Owner:	Global Administrator (administrator Select Clear
Status:	Not started
Project page:	Select Clear
Allow task ordering:	
	ОК

Tasks under ad-hoc projects are shown normally by the appropriate web parts and widgets and in CMS Desk -> My desk -> My projects and tasks.

Ad-hoc projects may be converted to projects visible on the website simply by entering the path to a document containing the **Project list** web part into their **Project page** property, which can be set when editing (\checkmark) a project on its **General** tab.

A full reference for the project management module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Project Management</u>.



Document libraries

6 Document libraries

6.1 Document libraries overview

Document libraries provide live site users with a convenient way of files storage on the intranet, without the need to access the user interface of the system. These libraries are located at three places on the portal:

- In the global section.
- In each department's dedicated website section.
- In each workgroup's dedicated website section.

In <u>Intranet User's Guide -> Document libraries</u>, you can find a detailed overview of the document libraries on the portal and instructions on how they can be used by live site users.

A full reference on the **Document library** module is located in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -></u> <u>Document library</u>. The chapter contains examples based on the **Intranet Portal** website, including a step-by-step guide on creating a new document library, so please refer to it in case that you are looking for this type of information.

New document 🛛 🧱 Library permissions

Document name -	Modified	Workflow step
▼ 🖻 <u>Dress Code</u>	10/15/2010 2:50:48 PM	Published
▼]Equal Opportunities	10/15/2010 2:50:52 PM	Published
▼ Intellectual Property Policy	10/15/2010 2:50:56 PM	Published
▼ [■]]Network and Software Use	10/15/2010 2:51:01 PM	Published
▼ @]Our Core Values	10/15/2010 2:51:05 PM	Published
▼ 1 Travel Expense Report	10/15/2010 2:51:09 PM	Published
▼ Iravel Expense Reporting	10/15/2010 2:51:12 PM	Published



Other features

7 Other features

7.1 RSS feeds

The portal contains numerous RSS feeds of **blog posts**, **events**, **forum posts** and **news** published in the portal's global section and in each department's and workgroup's dedicated website section. The feeds are created using web parts of the **Syndication** module. A full reference on the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Syndication</u>. In <u>Intranet User's Guide -> Other features -> RSS</u> feeds, you can find a detailed summary of the available feeds and an explanation of how the feeds can be used by live site users.

RSS feeds in the content tree

The RSS feeds are provided by a set of dedicated special pages. These special pages can be found at three locations:

1) RSS feed pages for the content of the portal's global section are located under the **RSS** document in the root of the content tree, as depicted below.



2) RSS feed pages for content of particular department sections are located under the **RSS** document in each department's dedicated website section.



3) RSS feed pages for content of particular workgroup section are located under the **RSS** document in each workgroup's dedicated website section.



RSS feed web part configuration

RSS pages of news, event and blog post feeds contain two interconnected web parts: a **Documents** data source and an **RSS repeater**.

The **Documents data source** is used to retrieve data records for the feed from the system's database and provide them to the **RSS repeater**. From all its properties, the following are configured to ensure the required functionality (the sample values are taken from the **Departments/IT/RSS/Blog posts** page):

• Web part control ID: DocumentsDataSource; code name of the data source (used for connection to the RSS repeater).

- Path: {%cmscontext.currentdepartment.nodealiaspath%}/Blogs/%; documents under this path will be provided by the datasource. The macro is used to retrieve the alias path of the current department's parent document.
- **Class names**: *CMS.BlogPost*; only documents of this type located in the specified path will be provided by the datasource.
- **ORDER BY Expression**: *BlogPostDate DESC*; ordering of provided documents.
- Select top N documents: 15; only the 15 top documents will be provided (based on the ORDER BY expression sorting).

The **RSS repeater** ensures that the page becomes the actual RSS feed, i.e. that the URL of the page will be the actual URL of the feed. From its properties, the following are configured to ensure the required behavior:

- Feed name: *blogposts*; name of the feed used for its identification (typically used if you have more than one feed on a single page).
- Feed title: Latest {%cmscontext.currentdepartment.documentname%} department blog posts; title of the feed. The macro is used to retrieve the name of the current department.
- Feed description: Latest {%cmscontext.currentdepartment.documentname%} department blog posts RSS feed.; text describing the feed. The macro is used to retrieve the name of the current department.
- **Data source name**: *DocumentsDataSource*; code name of the datasource that provides documents for the feed.
- **Transformation name**: *IntranetPortal.Transformations.SecuredBlogPostRSSItem*; transformation used to transform provided documents to the feed format.

Page Design Form Properties	☑ Display web part conte
Kentico Intranet Solution	<u>Global Administrator</u> : Sign Out <u>My Dashboard</u> <u>How To</u> <u>Edit this page</u> You have: <u>0 unread message(s) 0 active task(s)</u>
Home Company Departments Workgroups Documents	News Events Media Blogs Forums Employees
Departments > IT > RSS > Blog posts	٩
▼ /Departments/IT/RSS/Blog posts - page template: Intranet Portal - I ▼ zoneCenter ▼ ③ DocumentsDataSource ③ ▼ …RSSRepeater ④	Department RSS blog posts

Forum post RSS feed pages are created in a similar manner. They also contain an **RSS repeater**, but the data is provided to it by a **Forum posts data source** instead of the **Documents data source** described above. However, configuration of the web parts is very similar.

The **Forum posts data source** has its properties configured the following way (the sample values are taken from the **Departments/IT/RSS/Forum posts** page):

- Web part control ID: ForumPostsDataSource; code name of the data source (used for connection to the RSS repeater).
- Forum name: *all*; ensures that posts from all forums on the site should be provided, the posts are then filtered using the WHERE condition below.
- Select only approved: *enabled*; ensures that only approved posts will be provided (in case that forum moderation is enabled).

88 Kentico CMS 5.5 R2 Intranet Administrator's Guide

- ORDERY BY expression: PostLastModified DESC;
- Select Top N posts: 15;
- WHERE condition: GroupName = 'Department_{%cmscontext.currentdepartment.nodeguid%}';
- **Select columns**: *PostGUID*, *PostSubject*, *PostIDPath*, *PostForumID*, *ForumSiteID*;

The **RSS repeater** has the following properties configuration:

- Feed name: *forumposts*; name of the feed used for its identification (typically used if you have more than one feed on a single page).
- Feed title: Latest {%cmscontext.currentdepartment.documentname%} department forum posts; title of the feed. The macro is used to retrieve the name of the current department.
- Feed description: Latest {%cmscontext.currentdepartment.documentname%} department forum posts RSS feed.; text describing the feed. The macro is used to retrieve the name of the current department.
- Data source name: ForumPostsDataSource; code name of the datasource that provides documents for the feed.
- **Transformation name**: *IntranetPortal.Transformations.SecuredForumPostsRSSItem*; transformation used to transform provided documents to the feed format.

Home	Company	Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees			
<u>Departmer</u>	Departments > IT > RSS > Forum posts												
▼/Departments/IT/RSS/Forum posts - page template: Intranet Portal - Department RSS forums													
▼ zone	Center									.			
▼ 📑 F	orumPostsDat	aSource 🙀											
▼	SSRepeater	ξ.											

Links to RSS feeds

Links to particular RSS feeds can be found throughout the whole portal. The first location where you may come across them are the **Home** pages, both the global one and the ones of departments and workgroups. The feeds are accessible under the **a** icons in widgets displaying latest news, blog posts and forum posts (only on department and workgroup **Home** pages). Displaying of these links is ensured by the code of the **Intranet content box RSS** and **Intranet column box RSS** web part containers, which are used to encapsulate the web parts.



The other location where links to RSS feeds can be found are the particular **News**, **Events**, **Forums** and **Blogs** pages, both in the portal's global section and in particular department and workgroup sections. On the **Forums** page, the feed is accessible under the \Im icon in the web part container of the **Latest posts** repeater, similarly as described above.

Home	Company	Departments	Workgroups	Document	s News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees
Forums										P
For	ums								-	POSTS
Forum				Threads	Posts	La	st post			<u>? 10/13/2010</u>
	net Discu discussion forum gr								Have you see version? We h simplified it as possible. If yo	nave already much as

On the other pages, the respective feeds are accessible under the sicon next to the page's title (as highlighted above). This time, the link is added to the page using the **Feed link** web part, whose **Feed URL** property is configured to the path of the respective feed's page (e.g. ~/*RSS/News.aspx* in case of the global section's news).

Home	Company	Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees
News										P
Add news New CF	2 D Joins Our Cor Colin Doug	mpany 10/12/2010 glas joins our comp graduated from Ha			ee the Finar	ice departm	ent. Colin p	reviously wa	orked in Nebra	aska Finance

Security of department and workgroup feeds

RSS feeds of <u>department</u> or <u>workgroup</u> content contain only titles of the new content. These titles work as links to the page where the new content is published. This happens for security reasons, as RSS feeds cannot be secured and anybody who knows the feed URL can subscribe to it. To prevent users without appropriate permissions from viewing secured content, only links are included in the feeds. This way, users have to log on to the secured portal to see the actual content.

🥖 Latest IT department news - Windows Internet Explorer			- • ×
G ⊂ ♥ http://localhost/KenticoCMS_1130/Departments/IT/RSS/News.aspx ▼	😽 🗙 📴 Bi	ing	+ م
🙀 Favorites 🛛 👍 🏉 Suggested Sites 🔻 🔊 Get More Add-ons 👻			
€ Latest IT department news	- 🛛 - 🗆	🛛 🖶 🔻 Page 🕶 Safety	🔻 Tools 🕶 🔞 👻
			^
Latest IT department news		Displaying	2/2
You are viewing a feed that contains frequently updated content. When you subscribe to a feed, it is added to Common Feed List. Updated information from the feed is automatically downloaded to your computer and can be			
Internet Explorer and other programs. Learn more about feeds.	viewed in	• All	2
🖨 Subscribe to this feed		Sort by:	
		▼ Date	E
New Second Judge of the TT descents on the		Title	
New internal rules of the IT department			
7			
New intranet launched			
÷			
		-	+
Done Protected N	Aode: Off	4	▼ € 100% ▼

7.2 Search

The portal comes with built-in index-based search functionality. Using it, it is possible to search for text in website content and in the website's discussion forums. The whole functionality is provided by the **Smart search** module. Full documentation of the module can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules</u> -> <u>Smart search</u>.

Smart search indexes

The Smart search module provides indexed-based search using the Lucene search engine. For your

website's content to be searchable, the content must be indexed by some of the smart search indexes defined in **Site Manger -> Administration -> Smart search**. As you can see in the screenshot below, the portal comes with an extensive number of default smart search indexes, so that all its default content is already pre-indexed and fully searchable.

There are two basic types of indexes: **Documents** indexes for content of documents and **Forums** indexes for content of discussion forums. Primarily, there are two indexes for content of the portal's global section: **Intranet Portal - General content** and **Intranet Portal - General forums**. The first one is for content of the global section's documents, while the second one is intended for indexing of the global section's forums. The two indexes are highlighted in the screenshot below.

Apart from the global section's indexes, two indexes are also created automatically when a new <u>department</u> or <u>workgroup</u> is created. These indexes are only used for search of the particular department's or workgroup's website section, as described further below. You can identify them by the display name of the department or workgroup present in the name of the index (e.g. **Finance - Default** and **Finance - Forums** are indexes of the **Finance** department).

Kentico CMS Site Manager						Switch to CMS Desk	User: Global Administrator v5.5.3996 R4	Sign Out
CIVIS SILE Manager	Sites Admir	nistration Settings	Development	Licenses Supp	ort			
ministration	Smart :	search indexes						
· 📷 Avatars · 🗑 Bad words	New index							
Badges Banned IPs E-mail queue								
	Actions	Display name 🔺		Last rebuild time	Index type	Index status		
Event log	2 X 🚯	Finance - Default		12/15/2010 5:35:2	0 PM Documents	Ready		
M Permissions		Finance - Forums		12/15/2010 5:35:2	0 PM Forums	Ready		
🗑 Recycle bin 🚨 Roles		HR - Default		12/15/2010 5:35:2	3 PM Documents	Ready		
Scheduled tasks	/ X 🛞	HR - Forums		12/15/2010 5:35:2	3 PM Forums	Ready		
Smart search		Intranet Portal - Ge	neral content	12/15/2010 5:35:2	8 PM Documents	Ready		
System	/ 🗙 🛞	Intranet Portal - Ge	neral forums	12/15/2010 5:35:2	8 PM Forums	Ready		
- 🛃 UI personalization - 🌡 Users - 🖏 Web farm	/×®	IT - Default		12/17/2010 1:04:0	4 PM Documents	Ready		
	1 🗙 🛞	IT - Forums		12/15/2010 5:35:3	2 PM Forums	Ready		
	1 🗙 🛞	Management - Def	ault	12/15/2010 5:35:3	5 PM Documents	Ready		
	1 💥 🛞	Management - For	ums	12/15/2010 5:35:3	5 PM Forums	Ready		
	/ ***	Marketing Strategy	- Default	12/15/2010 5:35:3	9 PM Documents	Ready		
	` 🧪 🗙 🔞	Marketing Strategy	- Forums	12/15/2010 5:35:3	9 PM Forums	Ready		
	/ 🗙 🛞	Microsoft Office Up	grade - Default	12/15/2010 5:35:4	3 PM Documents	Ready		
	/ 🗙 🛞	Microsoft Office Up	grade - Forums	12/15/2010 5:35:4	3 PM Forums	Ready		
	1 🗙 🛞	PR & Marketing - D	efault	12/15/2010 5:35:4	6 PM Documents	Ready		
	/ 🗙 🛞	PR & Marketing - F	orums	12/15/2010 5:35:4	6 PM Forums	Ready		
	/ 🗙 🚳	Production - Defau	It	12/15/2010 5:35:4	9 PM Documents	Ready		
		Production - Forum	IS	12/15/2010 5:35:4	9 PM Forums	Ready		
	1 🗶 🛞	Sales - Default		12/15/2010 5:35:5	2 PM Documents	Ready		
		Sales - Forums		12/15/2010 5:35:5	2 PM Forums	Ready		
	1 🕺 🕷	Tradeshow in Las	Vegas - Default	12/15/2010 5:35:5	6 PM Documents	Ready		
		Tradeshow in Las	Vegas - Forums	12/15/2010 5:35:5	6 PM Forums	Ready		
							Items	er page: 25 💌

Searching on the live site

On the live site, the search functionality is provided by the **Smart search box** web part. The web part is placed below the main menu on master pages, both the global one and the ones used for department and workgroup sections.

Home Company	Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees
									2

Among the web part's properties, the following configuration is the most important:

- Search button CSS class: CSS class used for the search button next to the textbox. In this case, the SearchButton CSS class ensures that the P icon is used for the purpose.
- Search textbox CSS class: CSS class used for the textbox where searched text is entered. The SearchTextBox class is used by default.
- Search results page URL: URL of the page where search results should be displayed. The target page must contain either the *Search results* or the *Smart search dialog with results* web part with proper configuration in order for search results to be displayed.
- Search mode: type of search matching. Determines if a match (search result) should be returned if any word/all words/exact phrase is found in the searched content.

As you can see, the actual indexes to be searched are not set in the properties of this web part. Contrary to that, the indexes are selected in properties of the **Smart search dialog with results** web parts placed on the search results pages where users get redirected after submitting the search request.

Web part properties	(Smart search box) Webpage Dialog		×
鷸 Web part pro	perties (Smart search box)		Documentation
General Layout			
Default Visibility	Search box settings		^
Search box settings Button settings	Search button text:	▶	
Web part container	Search button CSS class:	SearchButton	
AJAX	Search label text:	•	
Time zones Partial caching	Search label CSS class:	•	E
	Search textbox CSS class:	SearchTextBox	
	Search results page URL:	► ~/Search.aspx	
	Show search label:	•	
	Search mode*:	► Any word	
	Button settings		
	Show image button:	•	-
Refresh content		OK Cancel	Apply
http://localhost/Kentico	CMS_r2/CMSModules/PortalEngine/UI	/Webparts/WebPartProperties. 🔍 Local intranet Protected Mode: Off	đ

Search results pages

The search result pages are special pages where search results are displayed to users. There are three locations of search result pages:

- ~/Search.aspx this page displays search results when searching content of the global section.
- ~/Departments/<department name>/Search.aspx each department has its own search results page where search results are displayed when searching the department's section.

 ~/Workgroups/<workgroup name>/Search.aspx - each workgroup has its own search results page where search results are displayed when searching the workgroup's section.



Global search results

The global section's search results are displayed on the **~/Search.aspx** page. On this page, the **Search dialog with results** web part is placed, with its **Indexes** property configured to *IntranetPortal. GeneralContent;IntranetPortal.GeneralForums.* This ensures that when a user enters the searched text into the search box anywhere in the global section, they are redirected to the **~/Search.aspx** page, where the web part displays search results found in the two indexes.

Department and workgroup search results

Particular departments and workgroups have their own search results pages. In master pages of the department and workgroup sections, the following values are entered in the **Search results page URL** property of the **Smart search box** web part:

- Departments: ~{%cmscontext.currentdepartment.nodealiaspath%}/Search.aspx
- Workgroups: ~/Workgroups/{%communitycontext.currentgroup.groupname%}/Search.aspx

This ensures that users are redirected to the correct search results page when searching a department or workgroup. These search results pages also contain the **Search dialog with results** web parts. The web parts are configured so that in the **Indexes** property, the following macros are used:

- **Departments**: default_department_{%cmscontext.currentdepartment.nodeguid%}; forums_department_{%cmscontext.currentdepartment.nodeguid%}
- Workgroups: default_group_{%communitycontext.currentgroup.groupguid%};forums_group_{% communitycontext.currentgroup.groupguid%}

These macros ensure that correct smart search indexes are selected, depending on the department or workgroup where the search is currently being performed.

Home Co	ompany Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees	_	
Search											ρ
Search	ı										
Search for:	intranet										
Search mode	Any word	•									
	Search										
can cus Intranet	ne to Your New <mark>Intranet</mark> This tomize it as you need. For r Guide. ⊒ http://localhost/KenticoCN	nore information o	n how to configure	e your intra	<mark>anet</mark> , please						
Please	Log On Welcome to the Ker					ed to log					

on. You can use the default user name administrator and leave the password blank.

http://localhost/KenticoCMS_r2/Logon.aspx 7/28/2010 11:51:58 AM



Customizing the portal

8 Customizing the portal

8.1 Changing the themes

The portal comes with three default themes - **Blue**, **Green** and **Red**, as described in <u>Intranet User's</u> <u>Guide -> Other features -> Available themes</u>. These themes can be applied separately to the global section of the portal and to particular departments and workgroups. While the <u>global section themes</u> and <u>departments documents themes</u> can only be changed by the system administrators via the system administration interface, the <u>themes of workgroups documents</u> can be changed by both the system administrators and workgroup administrators. As the global administrator, you can thus not only <u>add</u> <u>your custom color themes</u>, but also change the themes on all the three different levels:

Global section

1. Globally for the whole site

If you need to change the theme for the whole site, log on to **Site Manager** -> **Sites** and choose to **Edit** (*i*) your intranet site. On the **General** tab of the **Site properties** page, choose the required theme from the **Site CSS stylesheet** drop-down list and click **OK**. If you now go back to **CMS Desk** or live site, all portal pages inheriting their theme from the portal global settings will have the color you have just chosen. Please note that if you choose (*none*) from the **Site CSS stylesheet** drop-down list, your portal pages will lack a theme unless you choose one as described below.

Kentico CMS Site Ma	nager	Sites	Administratio	n Settings
Site properties	5			
Sites Intranet Portal				
General Domain aliase	es Cultu	res		
_				
Site display name:	Intranet F	ortal		
Site code name:	IntranetP	ortal		
Site domain name:	localhost			
Default content culture:	English -	United State	s	Change
Default visitor culture:	(Automati	C)		•
Site CSS stylesheet:	Intranet P	ortal - Blue	-	Edit
Editor CSS stylesheet:	(site style	sheet)	-	Edit
Site description:	Intrane	t portal	site	*
				∇
	OK			

2. Globally for the root in the content tree

Another way to globally change the theme of the Intranet Portal is to choose one for its root. Log on to **CMS Desk** and choose the root from the content tree. Now select the theme that you would like to use on the **Properties** tab in **General -> CSS stylesheet**. Please note that selecting (*default*) from the **CSS stylesheet** drop-down list will result in applying the theme set in step 1. To save the theme for the

portal root, click **Save**. From now on, this theme will be used for all portal pages inheriting from the root or from a parent inheriting directly or indirectly from the root.

💒 Kentico		Go to Live Site Switc	h to Site Manager Site: Intranet Por
CMS Desk Content My des	k Tools Administration		
Copy 🕆 Up			
New Delete 🚔 Move 🦊 Down	Edit Preview Live site	List Search	
Content management	View mode	Other	
🗆 🕢 Intranet Portal	Page Design Form Master	page Properties	
Home	General		
🖃 📄 Company	URLs Save		
🕂 📄 Departments	Template		
	Metadata Design		
teres News	Categories CSS style	esheet: Intranet Porta	I - Blue 🔹 Edit

3. Separately for different pages

On the Intranet Portal, you can also set a theme for a particular page. Log on to **CMS Desk**, choose the page from the content tree and select the theme that you would like to use on the **Properties** tab in **General -> CSS stylesheet**. Please note that selecting *(default)* from the **CSS stylesheet** drop-down list will result in applying the theme set in step 1. To save the theme for the given page, click **Gave**.

1	Kentic	:0							<u>Go to Liv</u>	ve Site	Switch to Site Manager	Site: Intranet Por
1	CMS Des			Content	My de	sk Tools	Administrat	ion				
			Сору	î	Up		a			P		
New	Delete		Move	4	Down	Edit	Preview	Live site	List	Seard	h	
	Conter	it ma	nageme	ent			View	/ mode		Other	r	
🗆 🎱 I	ntranet Po	ortal				Page	Design F	Form Proper	ties			
	Home					General		_				
÷	Compan					URLs		E Sav	<u>e</u>			
	Workgro					Template						
÷	Docume					Metadata		Design				
÷	News					Categories		CSS styl	aabaat	Intranet	t Portal - Red	 Edit
÷	Events					Menu		Coolsty	esneet.	🗌 Inhei	rit	

Please note that if you set the **Inherit** option value to *true*, the **CSS stylesheet** drop-down list will become inactive and the page will be inheriting its theme from the parent.

Page	Design	Form	Properties	
General			_	
URLs			Save	
Template		_		
Metadata		ſ	Design	
Categories	3		CSS styleshe	Intranet Portal - Blue Edit
Menu			000 00,00000	Inherit

Departments

If you need to change the theme of a department, log on to **CMS Desk** and from the content tree, choose the department root document whose theme you want to change. You can perform the task

either the same way as described above, i.e. on the **Properties** tab in **General -> CSS stylesheet**, with the possibility to inherit the theme from the parent by checking the **Inherit** check box.

Kentico		Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager Site: Intranet Por
Child Deals	1y desk Tools Administration	
📄 📄 📄 Copy 🕆 Up		
New Delete 🚔 Move 🦊 Dov	n Edit Preview Liv	re site List Search
Content management	View mod	de Other
🖃 🌍 Intranet Portal	Page Design Form	Master page Properties
Home	General	
Company Departments	URLs	Save
in → Stance →	Template	
	Metadata	Design
÷. 🥵 IT⇒	Categories	CSS stylesheet. Edit
🕀 🐉 Management 🏓	Menu	Inherit
🕕 🐉 Marketing 🏓	Workflow	
🕂 🎜 Production 🏓	Versions	Other properties
🔁 🐉 Sales 🏓	Related docs	Document name: IT
Template Template Workgroups	Linked docs	Type: Intranet department Created by: Global Administrator

Or you can change the department root document theme using the **Used stylesheet** drop-down list on the **Form** tab. However, it is not possible to set inheritance from here.

Kentico	Go to Live Site Switch to Site Manager S
CMS Desk Content My desk	Tools Administration
New Delete A Move Down	Edit Preview Live site List Search
Content management	View mode Other
🖃 🌍 Intranet Portal	Page Design Form Master page Properties
吏 📄 Company	Save Spell check
in	
	Department name: IT
🛨 🥵 IT 🍟	This department contains sample 🔺
🕀 👪 Management 🏓	data.
🔁 🚜 Marketing 🏓	Department description:
ia J Sales ⇒	
	v
🔁 📄 Workgroups	Actions Update Name Size
🗄 📄 Documents	Department avatar:
🔁 📄 News	
🕂 📄 Events	Used stylesheet: Intranet Portal - Red 💌 Edit

In either case, clicking **a Save** will result in changing the theme of the given department root document including all department pages inheriting directly or indirectly from this department root document. Please note that choosing the department document theme on both the **Form** tab and **Properties** tab has the same effect and the value chosen on the one tab is automatically set on the other.

Workgroups

If you need to change the theme of a workgroup, log on to CMS Desk and from the content tree, choose

the workgroup root document whose theme you want to change. You can perform the task either the same way as described above, i.e. on the **Properties** tab in **General -> CSS stylesheet**, with the possibility to inherit the theme from the parent by checking the **Inherit** check box.



Or you can change the workgroup root document theme in **Tools -> Groups -> Edit** (*P*) <group> -> **General** using the **Theme** drop-down list. However, you will not be able to set inheritance from here.



When you have the value entered, click **G** Save on the **Properties** tab or click **OK** on the **General** tab. This will result in changing the theme of the given workgroup root document including all workgroup pages inheriting directly or indirectly from this workgroup root document. Please note that choosing the workgroup document theme on both the **General** tab and **Properties** tab has the same effect and the value chosen on the one tab is automatically set on the other. What is more, workgroup administrators can change the workgroup document theme also on the live site, as described in <u>Intranet User's Guide -</u> > Workgroups.

Please note

If you choose any value other than *(none)* or *(default)* from the **Site CSS stylesheet**, **CSS stylesheet** and **Used stylesheet** drop-down lists, the stylesheet **Edit** button will be active enabling you to edit the code of the particular CSS style.

Creating your custom color theme

1. If you need to create your own color theme, log on to **Site Manager**, go to **Development -> CSS stylesheets** and choose to **Edit** () either the **Intranet Portal - Green** or **Intranet Portal - Red** theme. On the **<CSS stylesheet> -> General** tab, copy the content of the **Stylesheet text** field to clipboard.

Please note that the **Intranet Portal - Blue** theme is the portal default theme, which is used as the basis of the **Intranet Portal - Green** and **Intranet Portal - Red** themes, defining only color differences. The steps described in this section thus concern only the creation of a new theme color variant. However, if you would like to create a new theme from scratch, you can use also the **Intranet Portal - Blue** theme as the basis or you can start with a blank one, writing all the CSS stylesheet code yourself.

Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites Administration	Settings Development	Licenses	Support		Switch to CMS Des	<u>User:</u> Globa	l Admi	nistrator	v5.5.3996 R2	Sigr
 Development Categories Countries Countries Countries Custom tables Custom tables Custom tables Custom tables Form controls Modules Notifications Page tayouts Relationship names System tables Tag groups Time zones UI cultures Web parts Web templates Web templates Web digets Workflows 	Sites Administration Image: Sites CSS stylesheet CSS stylesheets Intrane General Sites Image: Sites Check Check out the stylesheet display name: Stylesheet display name: Stylesheet code name: Stylesheet text:	properties st Portal - Green intranet Portal - Green intranet Portal - Green intranetPortalGreen /* Default Intran Simport url('~/Ck h2 { color: #4 } .teaderBlock { backgroun } .currentUser a {	<pre>15.5R2.3996.205 het Portal : iSPages/GetC i66517; */ hd: url('~/J hd: #fff url hd: url('~/J</pre>	555_FINAL\CMSC stylesheet * CSS.aspx?sty App_Themes/I 1('~/App_The	*/ /lesheetnam IntranetPop emes/Intran		al'); s/Background Images/Backg	A B B B D E FF H L L L S S T W	sheet exte shoes extension Colum Contension contension roums Box Box Box Box Box Box Box Box Box Box	a nn box nt box library ick st s block	
	1	•									

2. In Site Manager -> Development -> CSS stylesheets, click the New CSS stylesheet link.

Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites Administration Settings Development License	es Support
Development Categories Countries CSS stylesheets C	CSS stylesheets	
Cultures	Actions Display name Code name	
Document types	🧪 💥 📑 🛛 Intranet Portal - Blue 🔹 IntranetPortal	
E-mail templates Form controls	🧪 💢 📑 🛛 Intranet Portal - Green 🛛 IntranetPortalGreen	
Inline controls	🧪 💢 📑 Intranet Portal - Red IntranetPortalRed	

3. This displays the dialog used for the creation of a new CSS stylesheet.

🜺 Kentico							Switch to CMS Desk	User: Global Adm
CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support		
CMS Site Manager	CSS s CSS s Style: Style:	Administration	CSS styles		Licenses	Support		x
Modules Modules Page layouts Page templates Relationship names System tables G Time zones UI cultures U cultures Web part containers								
Web parts Web templates Widgets Workflows	∙ ▼ at	ssign to web site Ir OK	itranet Porta	1			 	÷

The following fields are available to define the CSS stylesheet:

- Stylesheet display name name of the stylesheet displayed in the user interface; a required field.
- Stylesheet code name name of the stylesheet used in website code; a required field.
- Stylesheet text standard CSS stylesheet code; a required field.
- assign to web site Intranet Portal indicates if the CSS stylesheet will be assigned to the Intranet Portal web site; an optional field.

Now copy the content of the clipboard to the **Stylesheet text** field. Modify the style code as needed, fill in the remaining two required fields and make sure that the **assign to web site Intranet Portal** option is set to true. If you have all values entered, click **OK** to save the new CSS stylesheet. Please note that you can optionally assign the CSS stylesheet to a web site from the **<CSS stylesheet> -> Sites** tab using the **Add sites** button.

4. You may also want to modify some of the auxiliary image files related to the CSS style defining your

custom color theme. You can either upload new image files with the same names or you can modify the existing files using the built-in **Image editor** as described in more details in the <u>Handling images</u> chapter in the **Content management -> File management** section of the Developer's Guide. Please note that image files on the Intranet Portal are placed in the **Files** folder.



For a detailed description of how to deal with CSS styles on the Intranet Portal, please refer to the <u>CSS</u> <u>stylesheets and design</u> chapter in the Development section of the Developer's Guide.

8.2 Modifying the Home page

In this topic you will learn how to modify some important elements of the Intranet Portal Home page, such as the <u>Quick links</u>, <u>Employee of the month</u> and the <u>Canteen menu</u> widgets. You will also learn how to add other widgets to the portal main page. <u>Widgets</u> introduce support for the personalization of pages. They allow users and editors to edit the structure of page templates. The personalized settings are saved within the system and can be invoked from the live site by authorized users or through the CMS Desk interface in the case of website editors. If you need to modify the portal Home page, log on to **CMS Desk**, choose *Home* from the content tree and navigate to the **Content -> Edit -> Page** tab. You should see a page similar to the one depicted in the following screenshot.



Widgets management

As a content editor, you can add, modify or delete any widget placed in a widget zone. This can be used to quickly customize pages beyond simply entering content into static page templates.

To add a new widget to your portal Home page, just click the **Add widget** (**D**) button in the top left corner of an editor widget zone.



You can modify any widget placed in an editor widget zone by clicking the **Configure widget** () button. You can also delete widgets using the **Delete widget** () button. Widgets can be moved

between different widget zones by clicking the **Drag widget** () button and dragging the widget to the desired place.

If you would like to learn more about using widgets in Kentico CMS, please refer to the <u>Development -></u> <u>Using widgets</u> chapter in the Development section of the Developer's Guide.

Changing the Quick links

The **Quick links** box contains links to pages that you need to be accessible directly from the Intranet Portal Home page. If you need to modify or delete some of these links or if you need to add new ones, move the mouse over the box so that the widgets management buttons become visible.



By clicking the **Configure widget** (*i*) button, you will open the **Widget properties (Intranet quick links)** dialog window. In the **Content -> Text** field you can perform all editing actions concerning your quick links using the built-in WYSIWYG editor. For more information on how to use the editor, please refer to the <u>WYSIWYG editor</u> chapter in the Development section of the Developer's Guide.

🖉 Widget properties (Intranet quick li	nks) Webpage Dialog			×
Widget properties (Intra	anet quick links)	WYSIWYG	editor	
② Source 函 ※ 哈 隐 健 ③三 三 律 律 ■ 三 三 Style ▼ Format				} ₩ - □ @、)
Content				Â
Text:	<u>ents</u> ments			E E
Widget container				
Widget container:	Intranet column box	•		
Widget container title:	QUICK LINKS			
Refresh page		ОК Са	ancel	Apply
http://localhost/5.5R2.3996.20555_FINAL/CMSMc 🗣 Local intranet Protected Mode: Off				

The following fields are available to define the Intranet quick links widget:

- **Text** the text to be displayed in the Quick links box. All editing actions related to the actual links can be performed using the built-in WYSIWYG editor.
- Widget container the container containing the particular widget.
- Widget container title the title of the widget container. It is displayed only if the {%ContainerTitle %} macro is used in the container code.

When you have the values entered, click **OK** to save the widget new settings and close the dialog window. Or click **Apply** to confirm the entered value(s) and leave the dialog window open. Or click **Cancel** to close the dialog window. Please note that if you click the **Cancel** button after confirming some previously made changes, these changes will not be lost. If you set the **Refresh page** option value to false, the edited content will not be updated after closing the dialog window unless you either refresh the **Edit** mode or switch to the **Preview** or **Live site** modes.

Changing the Employee of the month

The **Employee of the month** box contains an image of a selected company employee together with its caption. The image is presented on the Intranet Portal Home page for the duration of one month and can be partially customized. You can select a different image from the Intranet Portal file system by clicking the **Select** link, or you can click the **Select** link, which removes the selected image and replaces it with the default one. Another option to modify some basic properties of the image is to move the mouse

Employee of the Month

over the box so that the widgets management buttons become visible.

If you click the **Select** link, the **Select image** dialog window will pop up. Choose an image file from the Intranet Portal content tree and optionally adjust its width and height. You can **Lock/Unlock** (a) the image aspect ratio and you can also **Reset** (a) its size. By clicking **Refresh** (a) you can refresh the image URL according to the current image file settings. When you have the values entered, click **Select** to confirm selection and adjustment of the new image or click **Cancel** to discard the changes.

The following fields are available if you are selecting a new **Employee of the month** widget image using the **Select image** dialog window:

- URL URL of the image file in your Intranet Portal file system.
- Width the width of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this width.
- Height the height of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this height.

🖉 Select image Webpage Dialog			×
🧊 Select image			
Attachments Content Media libraries	Web		
New folder	List	Tiles 🔳	Thumbnails 🛛 🔞
Site: Intranet Portal	General		
Logon	URL:	555_FINAL/getfile/a72	2aa3d2-6a8a-430f-b111-
i 🏐 Icons	Width: 197 Height: 197		
jenniferw_photo			
KenticoLogo		- 4	
DefaultTeaserImage			
🕒 🤽 KenticoLogoSmall			
4 III			
			Select Cancel
http://localhost/5.5R2.3996.20555_FINAL/CMS	Forn 🗣 Local intranet Pi	otected Mode: Off	

If you click the Configure widget (M) button, you will open the Widget properties (Employee of the

month) dialog window. This dialog window enables you to modify some basic properties of the image file. When you have the values entered, click **OK** to save the new widget settings and close the dialog window. Or click **Apply** to confirm the entered value(s) and leave the dialog window open. Or click **Cancel** to close the dialog window. Please note that if you click the **Cancel** button after confirming some previously made changes, these changes will not be lost. If you set the **Refresh page** option value to false, the edited content will not be updated after closing the dialog window unless you either refresh the **Edit** mode or switch to the **Preview** or **Live site** modes.

The following fields are available to define the Employee of the month widget:

- Image width the width of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this width.
- Image height the height of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this height.
- Image title the title of the image region displayed on the Intranet Portal Home page.
- Alternate text the alternate text of the image displayed on the live website. It is the value of the *alt* attribute of the image tag.
- Widget container the container containing the particular widget.
- Widget container title the title of the widget container. It is displayed only if the {%ContainerTitle %} macro is used in the container code.

Widget properties (Employee of the month) Webpage Dialog						
ightarrow Widget properties (Employee of the month)						
Content						
Image width:	197					
Image height:	197					
Image title:	Employee of the month					
Alternate text:	Jennifer Wilson					
Widget container						
Widget container:	Intranet simple container					
Widget container title:	Employee of the month					
Refresh page	OK Cancel Apply					
http://localhost/5 🗣 Local intr	ranet Protected Mode: Off					

Please note

If you need to modify the image file using the standard image editing operations, please refer to the <u>Handling images</u> chapter in the **Content management -> File management** section of the Developer's Guide.

Changing the Canteen menu
The **Canteen menu** box contains the company canteen menu for the period of one week, optionally together with a description. The Intranet Portal comes shipped with a canteen menu in the form of table. However, you can fully customize the menu according to your needs. If you would like to modify the canteen menu, move the mouse over the box so that the <u>widgets management</u> buttons become visible.

🐔 CAN	FEEN MENU	🕀 🖌 🗙
Cantee	n menu for th	nis week:
Mon: Tue: Wed: Thu: Fri:	Grilled pork Bacon quic Roast of th Cottage pie Fish pie	e day
		(41

By clicking the **Configure widget** () button, you will open the **Widget properties (Intranet canteen menu)** dialog window. In the **Content -> Text** field you can perform all editing actions concerning your canteen menu using the built-in WYSIWYG editor. For more information on how to use the editor, please refer to the <u>WYSIWYG editor</u> chapter in the Development section of the Developer's Guide.

🖉 Widget properties (I	intranet cantee	n menu) Webpage Diale	og			×
🎲 Widget prop	erties (Intr	anet canteen men	u)	wysiw	YG editor	
		E 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		 B Size 		*₂ ײ ⊘ ☆ ﷺ ≩
Content						
	Canteen	menu for this week:				^
	MON:	Grilled pork chop garni				
	TUE:	Bacon quiche				
	WED:	Roast of the day				
Text:	THU:	Cottage pie				=
	FRI:	Fish pie				
Web part contair	ner					
Widget container:		Intranet column box			•	
Widget container	title:	CANTEEN MENU				
🗷 Refresh page				ОК	Cancel	Apply
http://localhost/5.5R2.3	996.20555_FIN/	AL/CMSM 👊 Local intran	et Protecte	d Mode: Off	f	

The following fields are available to define the Intranet canteen menu widget:

- **Text** the text to be displayed in the Intranet canteen menu box. All the editing actions related to the text can be performed using the built-in WYSIWYG editor.
- Widget container the container containing the particular widget.
- Widget container title the title of the widget container. It is displayed only if the {%ContainerTitle %} macro is used in the container code.

When you have the values entered, click **OK** to save the widget new settings and close the dialog window. Or click **Apply** to confirm the entered value(s) and leave the dialog window open. Or click **Cancel** to close the dialog window. Please note that if you click the **Cancel** button after confirming some previously made changes, these changes will not be lost. If you set the **Refresh page** option value to false, the edited content will not be updated after closing the dialog window unless you either refresh the **Edit** mode or switch to the **Preview** or **Live site** modes.



Please note

If you switch to the **Edit -> Design** tab, you can modify the layout of the page. However, special permissions are needed to perform this task. Please refer to the <u>Portal engine development model</u> chapter in the Development section of the Developer's Guide for more details.

8.3 Modifying structure of the website

In case that you are planning to customize the portal so that alias paths of documents change, you need to take into account that some <u>intranet portal widgets</u> may not work correctly. These widgets are based on standard <u>Kentico CMS web parts</u>, but have most of their properties pre-configured. However, some of them have their configuration dependent on the default structure of the portal. Therefore, it is either necessary for the documents listed below to be accessible under their original URLs, or to change the pre-configuration of particular widget properties in **Site Manager -> Development -> Widgets ->** ... select a widget from the tree ... -> **Properties** to reflect your new custom location.

For more information on URLs in Kentico CMS, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -> Development -></u> <u>Page processing and URLs</u>. A detailed reference on path expressions is located in <u>Developer's Guide -></u> <u>Appendix B - Path expression</u>.

Global section

The following alias paths of documents from the global section of the portal are pre-configured into the default properties of at least one Intranet portal widget:

- /Home the Department quick links and Workgroup quick links widgets contain a link to this alias path in their default text.
- /Departments the Intranet departments widget is by default configured to display departments under this alias path. Also, the Intranet quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Workgroups the Intranet quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.

- /Documents the Intranet quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /News the Intranet latest news widget is by default configured to display News documents under this alias path and also provides a link to it. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's **ContentAfter** property must be changed.
- /Events the **Intranet upcoming events** widget is by default configured to display Event documents under this alias path.
- /*Events/Events-list* the **Intranet upcoming events** widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's **ContentAfter** property must be changed.
- /Blogs the Intranet latest blog posts widget is by default configured to display Blog documents under this alias path.
- /Blogs/Blog-posts the Intranet latest blog posts widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's **ContentAfter** property must be changed.
- /Employees the Intranet quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Employees/Management/My-projects-and-tasks the My projects Intranet Portal, Tasks assigned to me - Intranet portal and Tasks owned by me - Intranet portal widgets by default provide a link to this alias path. To modify these links, the default value of the ContentAfter property of the appropriate widget must be changed.
- /RSS/<BlogPosts, Events, ForumPosts, News> the RSS feed buttons in the container headers of the Intranet latest blog posts, Intranet upcoming events, Intranet latest forum posts and Intranet latest news widgets link to the respective alias path (if a container that supports an RSS link is used). To modify these RSS feed links, the default value of the ContainerCustomContent property of the appropriate widget must be changed.

Workgroup sections

The following alias paths of documents from the sections dedicated to individual workgroups are pre-configured into the default properties of at least one Intranet portal widget:

- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name> the **Workgroup recent pages** widget is by default configured to display *Simple article* documents under this alias path.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/News the **Workgroup latest news** widget is by default configured to display *News* documents under this alias path and also provides a link to it. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's **ContentAfter** property must be changed.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Calendar the **Workgroup upcoming events** widget is by default configured to display *Event* documents under this alias path.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Calendar/Events-list the Workgroup upcoming events widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's ContentAfter property must be changed.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Documents the Workgroup quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Blogs the **Workgroup latest blog posts** widget is by default configured to display *Blog* documents under this alias path.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Blogs/Blog-posts the Workgroup latest blog posts widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's ContentAfter property must be changed.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Wiki the Workgroup recent pages widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's ContentAfter property must be changed.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Projects the Workgroup quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/Members the Workgroup quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Workgroups/<workgroup code name>/RSS/<BlogPosts, Events, ForumPosts, News> the RSS

feed buttons in the container headers of the **Workgroup latest blog posts**, **Workgroup upcoming events**, **Workgroup latest forum posts** and **Workgroup latest news** widgets link to the respective alias path (if a container that supports an RSS link is used). To modify these RSS feed links, the default value of the **ContainerCustomContent** property of the appropriate widget must be changed.

Department sections

The following alias paths of documents from the sections dedicated to individual departments are pre-configured into the default properties of at least one Intranet portal widget:

- /Departments/<department code name>/News the **Department latest news** widget is by default configured to display News documents under this alias path and also provides a link to it. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's **ContentAfter** property must be changed.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Calendar the Department upcoming events widget is by default configured to display Event documents under this alias path.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Calendar/Events-list the Department upcoming events widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's ContentAfter property must be changed.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Documents the Department quick links widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Blogs the Department latest blog posts widget is by default configured to display Blog documents under this alias path.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Blogs/Blog-posts the Department latest blog posts widget by default provides a link to this alias path. To modify this link, the default value of the widget's ContentAfter property must be changed.
- /Departments/<department code name>/Members the **Department quick links** widget contains a link to this alias path in its default text.
- /Departments/<department code name>/RSS/<BlogPosts, Events, ForumPosts, News> the RSS feed buttons in the container headers of the Department latest blog posts, Department upcoming events, Department latest forum posts and Department latest news widgets link to the respective alias path (if a container that supports an RSS link is used). To modify these RSS feed links, the default value of the ContainerCustomContent property of the appropriate widget must be changed.

Remembering original URLs when moving documents

The Site Manager -> Settings -> URLs and SEO -> Remember original URLs when moving documents setting may come in handy in this situation.

	Kentico						Switch to CMS Desk User: Glob	al
71	CMS Site Manager Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Sup	port	
Site: (globa	l) -		s and SE	0				
Set	tings	Save	Reset	t these settings to d	<u>efault</u>			
	🥘 Web site							
	划 Content management 📊 Files	These sett	ings are glob	oal, they can be o	verridden by	the lo	ocal site settings. Please select the site to see or change the si	ite
	🚨 Membership	Forbidde	n URL chara	icters		?		
	🥂 Security ➡ URLs and SEO	Forbidde	n characters	replacement		?	-	
	Dutput filter	Friendly U	JRL extensio	ons		?	.aspx	
	₩ System System	Files frier	ndly URL ext	ension		2	.aspx	
	Avatars	Excluded	URLs			?		
	😿 Bad words 🔲 Blogs	Default U	RL path pret	fix		0		
	Booking system		e path for UI			0		
	🖗 Community 🖗 MetaWeblog API	Use pern	nanent URLs	5		2		
	Content staging			JRLs when movin	a documents	-		
	🚨 Forums 🗊 Media libraries		itemap URL			0	googlesitemap.xml	
	🔋 Message boards	Google S				0	googlesitemap.xm	

This setting is enabled by default and it ensures that when a document is moved or its alias path is modified, the original alias path is added among its additional **Document aliases**. This way, the document is still accessible under the original URL (2. in the screenshot below), as well as under the new one (1. in the screenshot below). If you perform your alias-path-related modifications with this setting enabled, the functionality of the structure-dependent widgets listed above will be preserved.

Page	Design	Form	Properties	
General			C Source	Q
URLs			Bave Save	U
Template				
Metadata			Path	
Categorie	s		Document alias:	Homepage 1
Menu			Document URL path	
Workflow				🗹 Use custom URL path
Versions				
Related de	ocs		Extended properties	
Linked doo	cs		URL extensions:	
Security			Track campaign:	Use custom URL extensions
Attachme	nts		mack campaign.	
			Document aliases	
			Actions URL	

8.4 Configuration for multiple languages

The intranet portal can be multilingual, i.e. both the content of the front-end website and the resource strings in the administration interface can be displayed in various languages, based on the current user's preferences. This topic will give you a basic overview of how this configuration can be achieved. For a full

reference on the multilingual possibilities of Kentico CMS, please refer to <u>Developer's Guide -></u> <u>Development -> Multilingual and international support</u>.

Multiple content cultures

If you want to make the portal's content multilingual, the first thing to do is to add the required cultures in **Site Manager -> Sites ->** edit () the site **-> Cultures**. By default, the portal only uses the **English -United States** culture. You can add additional cultures using the **Add cultures** button, which opens a culture selection dialog where all cultures defined in **Site Manager -> Development -> Cultures** will be offered. Unwanted cultures can be removed from the list by checking their check-boxes and clicking the **Remove selected** button.

Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support		
Site properties								
Sites Intranet Portal								
General Domain aliases Cult	tures							
The changes were saved. The web site uses the followi	ing cultures:							
Culture name								
English - United States								
German - Germany								
Remove selected	Add cultures							

Once you have more than one culture in the list, the **Language** toolbar is displayed in **CMS Desk** -> **Content**. Using this toolbar, you can switch between particular language versions of the document currently selected in the content tree.



On the live site, you can switch between particular language versions of the website using the **Lanugage selection** or **Language selection with flags** web part. On the Intranet Portal website, the second mentioned web part is located in the top right corner of the master page header.



Multiple user interface cultures

User interface cultures can be managed in **Site Manger -> Development -> UI cultures**. In this part of the administration interface, you can see a list of all user interface cultures currently available in the

system. The default installation of Kentico CMS only contains the **English**, **Czech** and **Slovak** cultures. Localization packs containing other cultures can be downloaded for free at <u>http://www.kentico.com/</u> <u>Download/Localization-Packs.aspx</u>.

It is also possible to create a completely new user interface culture using the **Wew UI culture** link on this page. If you click the **Edit** (\checkmark) button next to a culture, you open its editing interface where you can define custom resource strings. It is also possible to remove listed cultures using the **Delete** (**X**) button.

1	Kentico							Switch to CMS Desk
1	CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support	
	velopment P Categories	U	Il cultures					
	Countries	Rev Nev	v UI culture					
	CSS stylesheets Cultures Custom tables	You ca	an download add	litional localizat	ion packs from <u>h</u> i	ttp://www.k	entico.com/Dowi	nload/Localization-Packs.aspx
	🔰 Document types 🗟 E-mail templates	Actio	ons UI cultur	e name 🔺 🛛 l	JI culture code			
	Sorm controls	P	💥 Czech	c	cs-cz			
	🔄 Inline controls	P	💥 English	6	en-us			
	🔒 Modules 🗟 Notifications	P	🗙 Slovak	s	sk-sk			
	Page layouts							
	Page templates							
	Relationship names							
-	System tables							
	🖗 Tag groups 🎅 Time zones							
	UI cultures							

Culture settings for users

Each user has the following two properties on the **General** tab of their editing interface in **Site Manager** -> Administration -> Users:

- **Preferred content culture** preferred culture of website content displayed to the user. If set to *(default)* or if the selected culture is not available, content is displayed in the default website culture.
- **Preferred user interface culture** preferred culture of the system's administration interface displayed to the user. If set to (*default*) or if the selected culture is not available, user interface is displayed in the default user interface culture.

袾	Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration	Settin	gs Der	velopment	Licenses	Support		<u>Switch t</u>	o CMS Desk
_	ninistration	🚨 U:	sers								
		Users Waiting for approval Mass e-mail On-line users									
📲 Badges 🚚 Banned IPs	Users + BradS										
<	🧭 E-mail queue	Genera	Password	Settings	Sites	Roles	Departments	Notifications	Categories	Friends	Subscriptions
	Event log Permissions	a Logi	in as this user								
8	······································		ame:*		BradS						
-	Smart search	Full name: *			Brad Summers						
	System	First na	ame:								
	UI personalization	Middle	name:								
	Users	Last name:									
	🕽 Web farm	E-mail	:		brads@localhost.local						
		Enable	ed:		V						
		Is edito	or:		V						
		ls glob	al administrator:								
		Is exte	rnal user:								
			ain user:								
			len:								
			red content cultur		(default)				-		
		Preferr	red user interface	e culture:	(default)				-		

Users with access to CMS Desk can adjust these settings for their own accounts in My desk -> My profile.

👥 Kentico					Go to Live Site
CMS Desk	Content My desk	Tools Administr	ation		
My desk	🊨 My	profile			
My blogs	Details	Change password	Notifications	Subscriptions	
·····································	sks User na Full nar First na Last na Nick na E-mail:	me: me: me:	BradS Brad Sumr	ners calhost.local	
		Preferred content culture:		United States	•
	Preferre	ed user interface cult	ure: (default)		•
	Messag	ging notification e-ma	il:		

Default culture settings

When setting up a multilingual intranet, it is necessary to choose default cultures. These cultures are used when the two preferred culture settings described above are set to *(default)*, or when the user's preferred culture is not available. These settings need to be adjusted separately for the website content

and for the administration interface.

Default content culture

Default content culture can be configured in **Site Manager -> Sites ->** edit *P* the site **-> General**. The following two settings on this tab are related to default cultures:

- Default content culture content culture displayed to registered users whose Preferred content culture is set to (default).
- **Default visitor culture** content culture displayed to anonymous site visitors. If set to (Automatic), the culture will be used based on client browser preferences.

	anager	Sites	Administration	Settings	Development	Licenses	Support
Site propertie	s						
Sites Intranet Portal							
General Domain alias	es Cultures						
Site display name:	Intranet Portal						
Site code name:	IntranetPortal						
Site domain name:	localhost						
Default content culture:	English - Unite	ed States	;	Change)		
Default visitor culture:	(Automatic)			-	J		
Site CSS stylesheet:	Intranet Portal	- Blue	-	Edit			
Editor CSS stylesheet:	(site styleshee	t)	•	Edit			
Site description:	Intranet p	ortal s	site	*			
				-			
	ОК						

The **Default content culture** option above is linked with the **Default culture of the content** setting in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Website**. If you change the value here with the correct website selected, it gets changed in the dialog described above too, and vice versa.



Default user interface culture

The default UI culture can be set by adding the following key to the *<appSettings>* section of your site's *web.config* file:

```
<add key="CMSDefaultUICulture" value="en-nz" />
```

If you use this key, you also need to rename the ~\CMSResources\CMS.resx file to CMS.en-us.resx and the CMS.en-nz.resx file to CMS.resx. This is needed because the CMS.resx file is used when the (default) option in selected in users' Preferred user interface culture. When this key is used and the CMS.resx file contains the en-nz dictionary, for the user who has their Preferred user interface culture set to (default), the UI culture will be en-nz.

8.5 Changing the company logo

Here you will learn how to change and modify your company logo. You can <u>change</u> the logo in the Intranet Portal root or you can <u>update</u> it in the Intranet Portal content tree.

Changing the company logo

1. If you need to change your company logo, log on to **CMS Desk** and choose the Intranet Portal root from the content tree. You should see a page similar to the one depicted in the following screenshot. You can select a different logo image from the Intranet Portal file system by clicking the **Select** link or you can restore the default logo image by clicking the **Select** link.



2. If you click the **Select** link, the **Select image** dialog window will pop up. Choose an image file from the Intranet Portal content tree and optionally adjust its width and height. You can **Lock/Unlock** () the image aspect ratio and you can also **Reset** () its size. By clicking **Refresh** () you can refresh the image URL according to the current image file settings. When you have the values entered, click **Select** to confirm selection and adjustment of the new image or click **Cancel** to discard the changes.

The following fields are available if you are selecting a new logo image using the **Select image** dialog window:

- URL URL of the image file in your Intranet Portal file system.
- Width the width of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this width.
- Height the height of the image in pixels. The image will be resized to this height.

🕖 Select image Webpage Dialog	×
🧊 Select image	
Attachments Content Media libraries	Web
New folder 🔒 New file	List Tiles Thumbnails
Site: Intranet Portal	General URL: /5.5R2.3996.20555_FINAL/Files/KenticoLogoBig.aspx?width=64&heigh
RSS Logon Logon Joint Cons Second Cons KenticoFooterLogo KenticoLogoBig DefaultTeaserImage KenticoLogoSmall Special pages TH	Width: 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64
	Select Cancel
http://localhost/5.5R2.3996.20555_FINAL/CMS	SFormControls/Se 🗣 Local intranet Protected Mode: Off

3. Finally, go to **CMS Desk -> Content -> Edit**, choose any Intranet Portal page displaying the company logo, e.g. the Home page, from the content tree and switch to the **Page** tab. The new company logo will be displayed. Please note that you can check your company logo also on the live site.

Page Design	Form Properties				
🔚 Save 🧱	Spell check				
) h h fi fi fi 2) 4) h [] []		Ø B <i>I</i> <u>U</u>	$ABC \mid \mathbf{x}_2 \mid \mathbf{x}^2 \mid \frac{4}{3} \equiv =$	∉ ≢ ■
Style	▼ Format	Font	▼ Size	• T ₂ • 🏤• 🔲 🖞	à
<u>.</u>				1 Global Administ	rator: Sign (
	,				
Home	Company Dep	partments Workgroups	Documents	News Events	Media
Home	Company Dep	vartments Workgroups	Documents	News Events	Media
Home	Company Dep widget X Reset to		Documents	News Events	Media

Updating the company logo

1. Another option to change your company logo is to update the existing one. The company logo image

file can be found in the Intranet Portal **Files** folder. Navigate to this folder from **CMS Desk -> Content** and choose the appropriate image file from the content tree.





2. Now go to CMS Desk -> Content -> Edit, switch to the Form tab and click Update ().

ļ
Size 19.6 kB

3. This will open the **Choose file to Upload** webpage dialog of the operating system enabling you to choose the new logo image file from your local or network file system. Navigate to the appropriate file, select it and click the **Open** button to confirm the update of your company logo.

Choose File to Upload		x
😋 🔾 🗢 📗 « OSDisk (C:) 🕨 Company 🕨 Image f	iles 🔹 🗲 Search Image files	٩
Organize 🔻 New folder	I - I	(?)
> 🔆 Favorites		
District Contract	KenticoLogo_1	
D 🖳 Computer		
D 🗣 Network		
File name: KenticoLogo_2		•

4. Finally, go back to **CMS Desk -> Content -> Edit**, choose any Intranet Portal page displaying the company logo, e.g. the Home page, from the content tree and switch to the **Page** tab. The new company logo will be displayed. Please note that you can check your company logo update also on the live site.

Page Design	Form Properties
Save	Spell check
	X 時 略 晩 冊 ● ● い ~ M 公 圏 2 B I U ↔ ×, × 注 三 律 律 ■
🛛 🦛 📖 📰 👬	 Image: Size in the second secon
	L <u>Global Administrator</u> : <u>Sign C</u>
Home	Company Departments Workgroups Documents News Events Media
Home	
🕂 Ade	d widget 💥 Reset to default
•	Welcome to Your New
•	
•	Welcome to Your New
•	Welcome to Your New
•	Welcome to Your New Intranet
•	ICK LINKS Welcome to Your New Intranet

Convert, **Crop** and **Color** adjustment, same as display the **Properties** of the image. For more details on how to performs these operations, please refer to the <u>Handling</u> <u>images</u> chapter in the **Content management -> File management** section of the Developer's Guide.



Special pages

9 Special pages

The portal contains a number of special pages. These pages are standard **Page (menu item)** documents in the content tree, but they are not visible in the navigation menu. Their function is to provide functionality such as handling unsubscription requests, etc.

The special pages described in this topic are located in the **Special pages** folder in the content tree. The following pages can be found there:

- <u>Access denied</u>
- Blog unsubscribe
- Board unsubscribe
- Forum unsubscribe
- Invitation acceptation
- <u>Registration approval</u>

There are also other special pages in addition to the ones described in this topic - special pages for search and RSS feeds. These pages are described separately in the <u>RSS feeds</u> and <u>Search</u> topics in the **Other features** chapter of this guide.



Access denied

Users who attempt to access a page for which they do not have <u>permissions</u> are by default redirected to a system page that displays a security message. A custom page may however be set as an alternative for the default system page. The **Access denied** special page is prepared for this purpose, it only requires the simple configuration process described below to be performed to ensure that users without permissions are redirected correctly.

Go to **Site Manager -> Settings -> Security**, select the Intranet Portal site from the drop-down list on the top left, uncheck the **Inherit from global settings box** on the right of the **Access denied page**

URL setting and enter the appropriate value into the field. By default, the URL is ~/Special-pages/ Access-denied.aspx.

Kentico CMS Site Manager	Sites	Administration Settings	Developmen	t Licenses	Support	<u>Switch</u>	to CMS Desk	User: Global Ad
Site: Intranet Portal	•	A Security						
Settings Web site		Save A Reset	these settings	<u>to default</u>				
	t	Send password e-ma	ils from 👩	admin@localh	iost.local		🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
2 Security		Check page permissi	ons 🕐	Secured areas	3	•	🔲 Inherit fro	m global settings
		Website logon page U	IRL 🕐	~/Logon.aspx			🔲 Inherit fro	m global settings
		Access denied page	JRL 🕜	~/Special-pag	es/Access-denied.aspx		🔲 Inherit fro	m global settings
🛁 E-mails U Avatars		Enable banned IPs	0				🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
👦 Bad words		Redirect banned IPs t	o URL 🕜	~/CMSMessa	ges/BannedIP.aspx		🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
📲 Blogs 📲 Booking system		Enable flood protection	n 🕐				🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
Sooning System		Flood interval	?	20			🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
WetaWeblog API		Enable UI personaliza	ition 🕜	\checkmark			🗹 Inherit fro	m global settings
- Secures		Export these settings						

Click **Save** to complete the process.

The content of the page is fully customizable. By default, the following message is displayed: You are not allowed to access the required page. Please contact the administrator if you think you should be allowed to access it.

Home	Company	Departments	Workgroups	Documents	News	Events	Media	Blogs	Forums	Employees
										Q [

Access denied

You're not allowed to access the required page. Please contact the administrator if you think you should be allowed to access it.

The pages of <u>workgroups</u> do not redirect to this page when accessed without the appropriate permissions, since every workgroup has its own **Access** page dedicated to this purpose.

Blog unsubscribe

This page is used for the handling of blog post unsubscription requests. When a user subscribes to receive notifications about new blog posts in some blog, a notification e-mail is sent to their e-mail address when a new blog post is published. The notification e-mails contain unsubscription links leading to this page.

When the page is accessed, the **Blog post unsubscription** web part on the page recognizes the subscription based on a value passed in the query string, performs unsubscription and displays a message confirming it to the user. From now on, notifications about blog posts in the respective blog will no longer be sent to the user.

The URL of the page must be entered in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Blogs -> Blog unsubscription URL** in order for the links to be functional. The portal is already pre-configured for the default location of this page, so you only need to modify it in case you wish to change the page's alias path.

More information on blog subscriptions can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> ... -> Blog comments</u> notifications -> User subscriptions.

▼ /Special pages/Blog unsubscribe - page template: Intranet Portal - Blog unsubscribe	D
▼ zoneTop	÷
▼ zoneCenter	♣
HeaderText Subscribtion	
▼ BlogPostUnsubscription	
▼ zoneBottom	ᆉ

Board unsubscribe

This page is used for the handling of message board unsubscription requests. When a user subscribes to receive notifications about new messages on a message board, a notification e-mail is sent to their e-mail address when a new message is added. The notification e-mails contain unsubscription links leading to this page.

When the page is accessed, the **Message board unsubscription** web part on the page recognizes the subscription based on a value passed in the query string, performs unsubscription and displays a message confirming it to the user. From now on, notifications about new messages on the board will no longer be sent to the user.

The URL of the page must be entered in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Message boards -> Board unsubscription URL** in order for the links to be functional. The portal is already pre-configured for the default location of this page, so you only need to modify it in case you wish to change the page's alias path.

More information on board subscriptions can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> ... -> Message board</u> notifications -> User subscriptions.

▼/Special pages/Board unsubscribe - page template: Intranet Portal - Board unsubscribe	
▼ zoneTop	
▼ zoneCenter	
HeaderText Shsubscribtion	
MessageBoardUnsubscription	
▼ zoneBottom	

Forum unsubscribe

This page is used for the handling of forum unsubscription requests. When a user subscribes to receive notifications about new posts in a forum, a notification e-mail is sent to their e-mail address when a new forum post is added. The notification e-mails contain unsubscription links leading to this page.

When the page is accessed, the **Forum unsubscription** web part on the page recognizes the subscription based on a value passed in the query string, performs unsubscription and displays a

message confirming it to the user. From now on, notifications about new posts in the forum will no longer be sent to the user.

The URL of the page must be entered in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Forums -> Forum unsubscription URL** in order for the links to be functional. The portal is already pre-configured for the default location of this page, so you only need to modify it in case you wish to change the page's alias path.

More information on forum subscriptions can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> Modules -> Forums -></u> <u>Subscriptions</u>.

▼ /Special pages/Forum unsubscribe - page template: Intranet Portal - Forum unsubscribe	
▼ zoneTop	
▼ zoneCenter	
HeaderText Snsubscribtion	
ForumUnsubscription	
▼ zoneBottom	

Invitation acceptation

This page is used to handle workgroup invitations. A new user can be invited to a <u>workgroup</u> via e-mail or the internal <u>messaging</u> message. Both types of messages contain links that can be used to accept the invitation. The links lead to this page.

When the page is accessed, the **Group invitation** web part on the page recognizes the invitation based on a value passed in the query string and makes the user a member of the workgroup.

The alias path of the page must be entered in **Site Manager -> Settings -> Community -> Invitation acceptation path** in order for the links to be functional. The portal is already pre-configured for the default location of this page, so you only need to modify it in case you wish to change the page's alias path.

VSpecial pages/Invitation acceptation - page template: Intranet Portal - Invitation acceptation	
▼ zoneTop	
▼ zoneCenter	
HeaderText SIS	
GroupInvitation	
▼ zoneBottom	+

Registration approval

This page is used to handle registration confirmations. When a new user registers on the **Logon** page, an e-mail is sent to them, asking them to confirm their registration by clicking a link in the e-mail. The link leads to this page.

When the page is accessed, the **Registration confirmation** web part on the page recognizes the registration based on a value passed in the query string and confirms the user's registration. From now on, the new user account will be enabled and the new user can log on to the portal using the account.

The URL of this page needs to be entered in the **E-mail confirmation page** property of the **Registration form** web part on the **Logon** page. The web part is already pre-configured for the default location of the page, so you only need to modify it in case you wish to change the page's alias path.

Detailed information on user registration can be found in <u>Developer's Guide -> ... -> User registration -></u> <u>Registration approval and double opt-in</u>.

VSpecial pages/Registration approval - page template: Intranet Portal - Registration approval	
▼ zoneTop	
▼ zoneCenter	
▼ HeaderText	
RegistrationConfirmation	
▼ zoneBottom	



Intranet widgets and web parts

10 Intranet widgets and web parts

The portal comes with a number of <u>widgets</u> designed specifically for intranet scenarios. These widgets are derived from standard <u>Kentico CMS web parts</u>, but have most of their properties pre-configured so that the required configuration is limited to the minimum. In any case, you can always modify the configuration of the widgets in **Site Manager -> Development -> Widgets**. Some of the widgets have their properties configured depending on the default alias paths of certain documents in the content tree. For more information on this topic, please refer to <u>Customizing the portal -> Modifying structure of the website</u>.

All intranet widgets are stored in the **Intranet Portal** widget category. Other widget categories are also available, but the widgets in them are meant for general use and it may be necessary to pre-configure the properties of these widgets according to the document structure of the portal website. Each of the widgets can be used in one of the following scenarios:

- <u>User widgets</u> can be used by live site users on their personalizable pages, typically on the <u>My</u> <u>Dashboard</u> page.
- Editor widgets can be used by website editors on the **Page** tab in **CMS Desk**, typically on the **Home** page of the global portal or of individual departments.
- <u>Workgroup widgets</u> can be used by workgroup administrators, typically on each workgroup's **Home** page.

The following paragraphs describe widgets in each of these three categories.

User widgets

General widgets

The following widgets are available in the root of the Intranet Portal category:

- My blogs based on the Repeater web part, displays all blogs belonging to the current user.
- My blogs comments based on the Blog comments viewer web part, displays blog comments from all blogs belonging to the current user.
- My workgroups based on the Groups viewer web part, displays all workgroups to which the current user belongs.

Project management widgets

The following widgets are available in the Intranet Portal/Project management sub-category:

- My projects Intranet Portal based on the My projects web part, displays all projects for which the current user has access permissions.
- Tasks assigned to me Intranet Portal based on the Tasks assigned to me web part, displays all tasks assigned to the current user.
- Tasks owned by me Intranet Portal based on the Tasks owned by me web part, displays all tasks owned by the current user.



Editor widgets

The following widgets are available in the **Intranet Portal** widget category when adding widgets to pages on the **Page** tab in **CMS Desk**.

General widgets

The following widgets are available in the root of the Intranet Portal category:

- Employee of the month based on the Editable image web part, displays an image selected by a website editor.
- Intranet canteen menu based on the Static HTML web part, displays a pre-defined text, typically a weekly canteen menu.
- Intranet departments based on the **Repeater** web part, displays a list of all existing departments.
- Intranet employees based on the Users viewer web part, displays a list of all users of the system (i.e. company employees).
- Intranet latest blog posts based on the Repeater web part, displays latest blog posts published in the portal's global section.
- Intranet latest forum posts based on the Forum posts viewer web part, displays latest posts from the global section's forums.

- Intranet latest news based on the **Repeater** web part, displays latest news published in the portal's global section.
- Intranet poll based on the Poll web part, displays a poll where users can vote to express their opinion.
- Intranet quick links based on the Static HTML web part, contains customizable links leading to the most frequently used sub-sections of the portal.
- Intranet upcoming events based on the **Repeater** web part, displays the latest events scheduled on the **Events** page of the global section.



Department widgets

The following widgets are available in the Intranet Portal/Departments sub-category:

- **Department latest blog posts** based on the **Repeater** web part, displays latest blog posts published in the current department's section.
- Department latest forum posts based on the Forum posts viewer web part, displays latest posts from the current department's forums.
- **Department latest news** based on the **Repeater** web part, displays latest news published in the current department's section.
- **Department quick links** based on the **Static HTML** web part, contains customizable links leading to the **Home** page of the portal and sub-sections of the current department.
- Department upcoming events based on the Repeater web part, displays the latest events

Select widget							
ି 🎡 Recently used widgets ଇ-ିଙ୍କୁ All widgets େଙ୍କୁ Community	Widget name:			Search			
Content Content Document library Forms & Surveys							
General Jintranet Portal	Department latest blog posts	Department latest forum posts	Department latest news	Department quick links	Department upcoming events		
Media & services Mavigation Mewsletters Syndication							
	Departments						
	Departments						

scheduled in the current department's calendar.

Workgroup widgets

The following widgets can be found in the **Intranet Portal** widget category when adding widgets to workgroup pages:

- Workgroup administrators based on the Group members viewer web part, displays all administrators of the current workgroup.
- Workgroup latest blog posts based on the Repeater web part, displays latest blog posts published in the current workgroup's section.
- Workgroup latest forum posts based on the Group forum posts viewer web part, displays latest forum posts published in the current workgroup's section.
- Workgroup latest news based on the Repeater web part, displays latest news published in the current workgroup's section.
- Workgroup members based on the Group members viewer web part, displays all members of the current workgroup.
- Workgroup messages based on the Group message board viewer web part, displays latest messages from the current workgroup's message board.
- Workgroup quick links based on the Static HTML web part, contains customizable links leading to the Home page of the portal and sub-sections of the current workgroup.
- Workgroup recent pages based on the Repeater web part, displays the latest wiki pages in the

current workgroup's section.

• Workgroup upcoming events - based on the Repeater web part, displays latest events scheduled in the current workgroup's calendar.





Microsoft SharePoint integration

11 Microsoft SharePoint integration

Using Microsoft SharePoint, you can collaborate and share files with your colleagues more effectively and publish your website content more efficiently. Kentico CMS provides integration with SharePoint and allows you to access data stored on a SharePoint (Windows SharePoint Services 3.0 (WSS) or MOSS - Microsoft Office SharePoint Server) server and display it on your site. This can be done using the <u>web</u> <u>parts</u> of the SharePoint module. Please note that the module enables you to get list and list item data from SharePoint and provide it to Kentico CMS. You can also download documents or images using the SharePoint module. However, it is not possible to modify SharePoint data or display Kentico CMS data in SharePoint.

How it works

SharePoint web parts use pre-generated proxy classes of selected SharePoint web services to get data from the server. The following services are used:

- http://server/_vti_bin/Lists.asmx methods for working with lists
- *http://server/_vti_bin/Imaging.asmx* methods for working with picture libraries
- *http://server/_vti_bin/Copy.asmx* methods for retrieving file content

The returned data is in CAML (XML) format, which needs to be further processed to display the data in a meaningful way. XSLT or ASCX transformations may be used for this purpose. For ASCX, the CAML response must be transformed to an ASP Dataset.

The whole integration functionality is provided by the following web parts from the Microsoft SharePoint category:

- SharePoint data source this data source web part enables you to retrieve some of the data from the SharePoint server. It uses web services (Lists.asmx, Imaging.asmx).
- SharePoint datagrid this web part displays a grid with data retrieved from the SharePoint server. It uses web services (Lists.asmx, Imaging.asmx).
- SharePoint datalist this web part enables you to retrieve and display some of the data from the SharePoint server. It uses web services (Lists.asmx, Imaging.asmx). The inner datalist control displays can display the data in multiple rows/columns.
- **SharePoint repeater** this web part enables you to retrieve and display some of the data from the SharePoint server. It uses web services (Lists.asmx, Imaging.asmx).

Select web part Webpage Dialog					×
🛷 Select web part					
Image: Second	*	Web part name:	SharePoint datagrid	SharePoint datalist	SharePoint repeater
Message board Messaging Microsoft SharePoint Navigation News News News Newsletters Notifications Polls Project management	Ш				L
Project management Image: Separating the separation of th	-	Microsoft SharePo	int		
http://localhost/5.5R2.3996.20555_FINAL/CMSModu	iles/Po	rtalEngine/UI/Webparts/Webl	PartSelector.aspx 🔦 Local intra	net Protected Mode: Off	OK Cancel



Please note

Detailed information and examples of the use of these web parts can be found in the <u>SharePoint integration</u> chapter in the Modules section of the Developer's Guide.

Index

- A -

accessing the administration interface 11 authentication 11

- C -

customization color schemes 96 company logo 118 graphical themes 96 Home page modification 103 multilingual configuration 113 website structure modifications 110

- D -

departments 17 creating new departments 20 customizing departments 28 features 37 security 36 document libraries 83

- | -

installation 7 Intranet Portal website 5 introduction 5

- K -

Kentico CMS Intranet Solution 5

- L -

logon 11

- M -

Microsoft SharePoint 137

- P -

project management 73

- R -

RSS feeds 85

- S -

search 90 SharePoint integration 137 special pages 125 syndication 85

- W -

WebDAV editing configuration 12 widgets 131 workgroups 42 creating new workgroups 49 customizing workgroups 63 document features 46 managing workgroups 44